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ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
June 30,
2020

December 31,
2019

(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Investments:
Real estate investments, at cost:
Land and improvements
Building and improvements
Lease incentives
Construction in progress
Intangible lease assets

$

Total real estate investments, at cost
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total real estate investments, net
Loans and direct financing lease receivables, net
Real estate investments held for sale, net
Net investments
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Straight-line rent receivable, net
Rent receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets, net
Total assets

646,445
1,341,421
11,807
10,965
79,177

$

2,089,815
(113,235)

1,908,919
(90,071)

1,976,580

1,818,848

101,007
1,792

92,184
1,211

2,079,379
100,839
8,665
31,287

1,912,243
8,304
13,015
25,926

27,072

(1)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Secured borrowings, net of deferred financing costs
Unsecured term loans, net of deferred financing costs
Revolving credit facility

15,959

$

2,247,242

$

1,975,447

$

172,662
625,941
—

$

235,336
445,586
46,000

Intangible lease liabilities, net
Dividend payable
Derivative liabilities
Accrued liabilities and other payables
Total liabilities (1)
Commitments and contingencies (see Note 11)
Stockholders' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 150,000,000 authorized; none issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 500,000,000 authorized; 93,024,022 and 83,761,151 issued and outstanding as of
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Distributions in excess of cumulative earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders' equity
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

9,129
21,545
46,443
13,139

9,564
19,395
4,082
13,371

888,859

773,334

—

—

—

—

930
1,440,828

838
1,223,043

(45,915)
(44,758)

(27,482)
(1,949)

1,351,085
7,298

1,194,450
7,663

1,358,383
$

Total liabilities and equity

588,279
1,224,682
4,908
12,128
78,922

2,247,242

1,202,113
$

1,975,447

__________________________________________________

(1)

The Company’s consolidated balance sheets include assets and liabilities of consolidated variable interest entities (“VIEs”). See Notes 2 and 6. As of
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, all of the assets and liabilities of the Company were held by its operating partnership, Essential Properties,
L.P., a consolidated VIE, with the exception of $21.5 million and $19.3 million, respectively, of dividends payable.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited, in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three months ended June 30,
2020

Revenues:
Rental revenue
Interest on loans and direct financing lease receivables
Other revenue, net

$

Six months ended June 30,

2019

36,465
2,037
1

$

2020

32,111
403
241

$

2019

76,007
3,976
8

$

62,884
729
248

Total revenues

38,503

32,755

79,991

63,861

Expenses:
Interest
General and administrative
Property expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for impairment of real estate

7,403
6,253
572
13,464
1,486

5,779
4,737
645
10,105
481

14,236
13,789
945
26,476
1,859

12,867
8,925
1,892
19,225
1,921

48

—

516

—

29,226

21,747

57,821

44,830

Provision for loan losses
Total expenses
Other operating income:
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net

1,093

3,474

2,968

4,150

10,370

14,482

25,138

23,181

—
144

(4,353)
518

(924)
375

(4,353)
609

Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense

10,514
70

10,647
76

24,589
101

19,437
143

Net income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests

10,444
(63)

10,571
(2,620)

24,488
(147)

19,294
(5,214)

Income from operations
Other (loss)/income:
Loss on repayment and repurchase of secured borrowings
Interest income

$

Net income attributable to stockholders

10,381
91,604,397

Basic weighted average shares outstanding
$

Basic net income per share

0.11

$

0.11

7,951

$

57,103,676
$

92,483,898

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding
Diluted net income per share

$

0.14

0.14

$

0.27

0.26

14,080
51,204,733

$

91,908,098
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

90,963,400

76,665,905
$

24,341

0.27
70,686,969

$

0.27
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ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income
(Unaudited, in thousands)
Three months ended June 30,
2020

$

Net income
Other comprehensive loss:

10,444

Unrealized loss on cash flow hedges
Cash flow hedge losses (gains) reclassified to interest expense
Total other comprehensive loss
Comprehensive (loss) income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Adjustment for cash flow hedge losses attributable to non-controlling
interests
Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to stockholders

$

Six months ended June 30,

2019

$

2020

10,571

$

$

19,294

(6,459)
1,492

(3,774)
(99)

(44,891)
1,824

(4,967)

(3,873)

(43,067)

(3,873)

5,477
(63)

6,698
(2,620)

(18,579)
(147)

15,421
(5,214)

29

960

258

960

5,443

$

5,038

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2019

24,488

(18,468)

(3,774)
(99)

$

11,167
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ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited, in thousands, except share data)
Common Stock

Number of
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2019
Cumulative adjustment upon
adoption of ASC 326
Common stock issuance
Costs related to issuance of
common stock
Unrealized losses on cash flow
hedges
Cash flow hedge losses
reclassified to interest expense
Share-based compensation
expense
Dividends declared on common
stock and OP Units
Net income

83,761,151

Par Value

$

Additional
Paid
In Capital

Distributions Accumulated
in Excess of
Other
Total
Cumulative Comprehensive Stockholders'
Earnings
Income (Loss)
Equity

Non
controlling
interests

$

838

$ 1,223,043

$ (27,482)

—
8,188,698

—
81

—
206,157

—

—

—

$ 1,194,450

(187)
—

—
—

(187)
206,238

—

(188)
206,238

(8,539)

—

—

(8,539)

—

(8,539)

—

—

—

(38,201)

(38,201)

(231)

(38,432)

—

—

—

—

330

330

2

332

—

—

1,508

—

—

1,508

—

1,508

—
—

—
—

—
—

(21,168)
13,959

—
—

(21,168)
13,959

(127)
84

(21,295)
14,043

Balance at March 31, 2020
Common stock issuance
Costs related to issuance of
common stock
Unrealized losses on cash flow
hedges
Cash flow hedge losses
reclassified to interest expense
Share-based compensation
expense
Dividends declared on common
stock and OP Units
Net income

91,949,849
1,074,173

919
11

1,422,169
17,321

(34,878)
—

(39,820)
—

1,348,390
17,332

7,390
—

1,355,780
17,332

—

—

(491)

—

—

(491)

—

(491)

—

—

—

—

(6,421)

(6,421)

(38)

(6,459)

—

—

—

—

1,483

1,483

9

1,492

—

—

1,829

—

—

1,829

—

1,829

—
—

—
—

—
—

(21,418)
10,381

—
—

(21,418)
10,381

(126)
63

(21,544)
10,444

Balance at June 30, 2020

93,024,022

930

$ 1,440,828

$ (45,915)

(44,758)

$ 1,351,085

7,298

$ 1,358,383

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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7,663

Total Equity

(1,949)

$

$

(1)

$

$ 1,202,113
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ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (continued)
(Unaudited, in thousands, except share data)
Common Stock

Number of
Shares

Balance at December 31, 2018
Common stock issued
Costs related to issuance of
common stock
Share-based compensation
expense
Unit-based compensation expense
Dividends declared on common
stock and OP Units
Net income

43,749,092
14,030,000

Par Value

$

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

431
140

$ 569,407
245,385

—

—

(10,887)

46,368
—

—
—

—
—

Balance at March 31, 2019
Unrealized losses on cash flow
hedges
Cash flow hedge gains reclassified
to interest expense
Share-based compensation
expense
Unit-based compensation expense
Dividends declared on common
stock and OP Units
Net income
Balance at June 30, 2019

57,825,460

Distributions Accumulated
in Excess of
Other
Total
Cumulative Comprehensive Stockholders'
Earnings
Income (Loss)
Equity

$ 562,179
245,525

$ 248,862
—

—

—

(10,887)

—

(10,887)

1,007
227

—
—

—
—

1,007
227

—
—

1,007
227

—
—

—
—

(12,143)
6,129

—
—

(12,143)
6,129

(4,002)
2,594

(16,145)
8,723

57,825,460

571

805,139

(13,673)

—

792,037

247,454

1,039,491

—

—

—

—

(2,839)

(2,839)

(935)

$

(3,774)

—

—

—

—

(74)

(74)

(25)

$

(99)

—
—

—

1,021
216

—
—

—
—

1,028
216

—
—

$
$

1,028
216

—
—

—
—

—
—

(12,725)
7,951

—
—

(12,725)
7,951

(4,192)
2,620

$
$

(16,917)
10,571

578

$ 806,376

$ (18,447)

(2,913)

$ 785,594

$ 244,922

$

(7,659)
—

$

Total Equity

—
—

7

$

Noncontrolling
interests

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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$

811,041
245,525

$ 1,030,516
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ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited, in thousands)
Six months ended June 30,
2020
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of lease incentive
Amortization of above/below market leases and right of use assets, net
Amortization of deferred financing costs and other assets
Loss on repayment and repurchase of secured borrowings
Provision for impairment of real estate
Provision for loan losses
Gain on dispositions of investments, net
Straight-line rent receivable
Share and unit based compensation expense
Adjustment to rental revenue for tenant credit
Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Rent receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets

$

Accrued liabilities and other payables
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales of investments, net
Principal collections on loans and direct financing lease receivables
Investments in loans receivable
Deposits for prospective real estate investments
Investment in real estate, including capital expenditures
Investment in construction in progress
Lease incentives paid
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of secured borrowings
Repurchase of secured borrowings
Principal received on repurchased secured borrowings
Borrowings under term loan facilities
Borrowings under revolving credit facility
Repayments under revolving credit facility
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net
Deferred financing costs
Offering costs
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period

24,488

2019
$

19,294

26,476
969
597
1,282
924
1,859
516
(2,968)
(3,099)
3,348
(2,063)

19,225
132
309
1,527
4,353
1,921
—
(4,150)
(5,898)
2,473
25

(11,816)
(4,059)

(3,035)
(339)

36,454

35,837

22,964
130
(9,656)
1,970
(190,365)
(9,706)
(7,703)

32,227
4,664
(23,566)
1,618
(272,364)
(5,754)
(2,000)

(192,366)

(265,175)

(63,943)
—
—
180,000
69,000
(115,000)
215,275
—
(545)
(40,690)

(3,954)
(201,400)
564
200,000
119,000
(86,000)
235,704
(2,471)
(1,066)
(29,334)

244,097

231,043

88,185
21,319

1,705
16,239

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period
Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

$

109,504

$

17,944

$

100,839
8,665

$

7,816
10,128

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period

$

109,504

$

17,944

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES REALTY TRUST, INC.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
(Unaudited, in thousands)
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash operating, investing and financing activities:
Adjustment upon adoption of ASC 326
Reclassification from construction in progress upon project completion
Non-cash investments in real estate and loan receivable activity
Lease liabilities arising from the recognition of right of use assets
Unrealized losses on cash flow hedges
Payable and accrued offering costs
Discounts and fees on capital raised through issuance of common stock
Payable and accrued deferred financing costs
Dividends declared

$

12,772
52
188
10,869
—
—
44,891
191
8,468
—
21,545

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

14,266
—
—
4,960
5,748
4,822
3,873
—
9,821
—
16,917
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
June 30, 2020
1. Organization
Essential Properties Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) is an internally managed real estate company that invests in, owns and manages
primarily single-tenant properties that are net leased on a long-term basis to middle-market companies operating service-oriented or experiencebased businesses. The Company generally invests in and leases freestanding, single-tenant commercial real estate facilities where a tenant
services its customers and conducts activities that are essential to the generation of the tenant’s sales and profits.
The Company was organized on January 12, 2018 as a Maryland corporation. It elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust
(“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes beginning with the year ended December 31, 2018, and it believes that its current organizational and
operational status and intended distributions will allow it to continue to so qualify. Substantially all of the Company’s business is conducted through
its operating partnership, Essential Properties, L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”).
On June 25, 2018, the Company completed the initial public offering (“IPO”) of its common stock. The Company’s common stock is listed on
the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “EPRT”. See Note 7—Equity for additional information.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Accounting
The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Company were prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) and with the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
In the opinion of management, all adjustments of a normal recurring nature necessary for a fair presentation of such financial statements have been
included. The results of operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 are not necessarily indicative of the results for the
full year. These unaudited financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto, which are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 that has been filed
with the SEC.
Reclassification
Certain amounts previously reported in the consolidated balance sheets have been reclassified to conform with the current period by
presenting derivative liabilities separate from accrued liabilities and other payables.
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and subsidiaries in which the Company has a
controlling financial interest. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, the Company, directly or indirectly, held a 99.4% and 99.3% ownership interest in the Operating Partnership and the
consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Operating Partnership as of these dates. See Note 7—Equity for changes in
the ownership interest in the Operating Partnership.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
Real Estate Investments
Investments in real estate are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost of investments in real estate
reflects their purchase price or development cost. The Company evaluates each
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acquisition transaction to determine whether the acquired asset meets the definition of a business. Under Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”)
2017-1, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business, an acquisition does not qualify as a business when there is no
substantive process acquired or substantially all of the fair value is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets or
the acquisition does not include a substantive process in the form of an acquired workforce or an acquired contract that cannot be replaced without
significant cost, effort or delay. Transaction costs related to acquisitions that are asset acquisitions are capitalized as part of the cost basis of the
acquired assets, while transaction costs for acquisitions that are deemed to be acquisitions of a business are expensed as incurred. Improvements
and replacements are capitalized when they extend the useful life or improve the productive capacity of the asset. Costs of repairs and maintenance
are expensed as incurred.
The Company allocates the purchase price of acquired properties accounted for as asset acquisitions to tangible and identifiable intangible
assets or liabilities based on their relative fair values. Tangible assets may include land, site improvements and buildings. Intangible assets may
include the value of in-place leases and above- and below-market leases and other identifiable intangible assets or liabilities based on lease or
property specific characteristics.
The Company incurs various costs in the leasing and development of its properties. Amounts paid to tenants that incentivize them to extend
or otherwise amend an existing lease or to sign a new lease agreement are capitalized to lease incentives on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheets. Tenant improvements are capitalized to building and improvements within the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Costs incurred
which are directly related to properties under development, which include pre-construction costs essential to the development of the property,
development costs, construction costs, interest costs and real estate taxes and insurance, are capitalized during the period of development as
construction in progress. After the determination is made to capitalize a cost, it is allocated to the specific component of a project that benefited.
Determination of when a development project commences, and capitalization begins, and when a development project has reached substantial
completion, and is available for occupancy and capitalization must cease, involves a degree of judgment. The Company does not engage in
speculative real estate development. The Company does, however, opportunistically agree to reimburse certain of its tenants for development costs
at its properties in exchange for contractually specified rent that generally increases proportionally with its funding.
The fair value of the tangible assets of an acquired property with an in-place operating lease is determined by valuing the property as if it
were vacant, and the “as-if-vacant” value is then allocated to the tangible assets based on the fair value of the tangible assets. The fair value of inplace leases is determined by considering estimates of carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods, current market conditions, as well as
costs to execute similar leases based on the specific characteristics of each tenant’s lease. The Company estimates the cost to execute leases with
terms similar to the remaining lease terms of the in-place leases, including leasing commissions, legal and other related expenses. Factors the
Company considers in this analysis include an estimate of the carrying costs during the expected lease-up periods considering current market
conditions and costs to execute similar leases. In estimating carrying costs, the Company includes real estate taxes, insurance and other operating
expenses, and estimates of lost rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up periods, which primarily range from 6 to 12 months. The fair
value of above- or below-market leases is recorded based on the net present value (using a discount rate that reflects the risks associated with the
leases acquired) of the difference between the contractual amount to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease and the Company’s estimate of the fair
market lease rate for the corresponding in-place lease, measured over the remaining non-cancelable term of the lease including any below-market
fixed rate renewal options for below-market leases.
In making estimates of fair values for purposes of allocating purchase price, the Company uses a number of sources, including real estate
valuations prepared by independent valuation firms. The Company also considers information and other factors including market conditions, the
industry that the tenant operates in, characteristics of the real estate (e.g., location, size, demographics, value and comparative rental rates), tenant
credit profile and the importance of the location of the real estate to the operations of the tenant’s business. Additionally, the Company considers
information obtained about each property as a result of its pre-acquisition due diligence, marketing and leasing activities in estimating the fair value
of the tangible and intangible assets acquired. The Company uses the information obtained as a result of its pre-acquisition due diligence as part of
its consideration of the accounting standard governing asset retirement obligations and, when necessary, will record an asset retirement obligation
as part of the purchase price allocation.
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Real estate investments that are intended to be sold are designated as “held for sale” on the consolidated balance sheets at the lesser of
carrying amount and fair value less estimated selling costs. Real estate investments are no longer depreciated when they are classified as held for
sale. If the disposal, or intended disposal, of certain real estate investments represents a strategic shift that has had or will have a major effect on
the Company’s operations and financial results, the operations of such real estate investments would be presented as discontinued operations in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for all applicable periods.
Depreciation and Amortization
Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of up to 40 years for buildings and 15 years for site
improvements. During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $11.6 million and $8.5 million, respectively, of
depreciation on its real estate investments. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $22.9 million and $16.3
million, respectively, of depreciation on its real estate investments.
Lease incentives are amortized on a straight-line basis as a reduction of rental income over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the
respective leases. If a tenant terminates its lease, the unamortized portion of the lease incentive is charged to rental revenue.
Construction in progress is not depreciated until the development has reached substantial completion.
Tenant improvements are depreciated over the non-cancellable term of the related lease or their estimated useful life, whichever is shorter.
Capitalized above-market lease values are amortized on a straight-line basis as a reduction of rental revenue over the remaining noncancellable terms of the respective leases. Capitalized below-market lease values are accreted on a straight-line basis as an increase to rental
revenue over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the respective leases including any below-market fixed rate renewal option periods.
Capitalized above-market ground lease values are accreted as a reduction of property expenses over the remaining terms of the respective
leases. Capitalized below-market ground lease values are amortized as an increase to property expenses over the remaining terms of the
respective leases and any expected below-market renewal option periods where renewal is considered probable.
The value of in-place leases, exclusive of the value of above-market and below-market lease intangibles, is amortized to depreciation and
amortization expense on a straight-line basis over the remaining periods of the respective leases.
If a tenant terminates its lease, the unamortized portion of each intangible, including in-place lease values, is charged to depreciation and
amortization expense, while above- and below-market lease adjustments are recorded within rental revenue in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income.
Loans Receivable
The Company holds its loans receivable for long-term investment. Loans receivable are carried at amortized cost, including related
unamortized discounts or premiums, if any. The Company recognizes interest income on loans receivable using the effective-interest method
applied on a loan-by-loan basis. Direct costs associated with originating loans are offset against any related fees received and the balance, along
with any premium or discount, is deferred and amortized as an adjustment to interest income over the term of the related loan receivable using the
effective-interest method.
Direct Financing Lease Receivables
Certain of the Company’s real estate investment transactions are accounted for as direct financing leases. The Company records the direct
financing lease receivables at their net investment, determined as the aggregate minimum lease payments and the estimated non-guaranteed
residual value of the leased property less unearned income. The unearned income is recognized over the term of the related lease so as to produce
a constant rate of return on the net investment in the asset. The Company’s investment in direct financing lease receivables is
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reduced over the applicable lease term to its non-guaranteed residual value by the portion of rent allocated to the direct financing lease receivables.
Subsequent to the adoption of ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”), existing direct financing lease receivables will continue to be accounted for in the
same manner, unless the underlying contracts are modified.
If and when an investment in direct financing lease receivables is identified for impairment evaluation, the Company will apply the guidance
under ASC 326 – Credit Losses (“ASC 326”), ASC 310, Receivables (“ASC 310”) (prior to January 1, 2020 and ASC 840, Leases (“ASC 840”) (prior
to January 1, 2019) and ASC 842. Under ASC 310, the lease receivable portion of the net investment in a direct financing lease receivable is
evaluated for impairment when it becomes probable that the Company, as the lessor, will be unable to collect all rental payments associated with
the Company’s investment in the direct financing lease receivable. Under ASC 326, the impairment model requires an estimate of expected credit
losses, measured over the contractual life of an instrument, that considers forecasts of future economic conditions in addition to information about
past events and current condition. Under ASC 840 and ASC 842, the Company reviews the estimated non-guaranteed residual value of a property
subject to a direct financing lease at least annually. If the review results in a lower estimate than had been previously established, the Company
determines whether the decline in estimated non-guaranteed residual value is other than temporary. If a decline is judged to be other than
temporary, the accounting for the transaction is revised using the changed estimate and the resulting reduction in the net investment in direct
financing lease receivables is recognized by the Company as a loss in the period in which the estimate is changed. As of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, the Company determined that none of its direct financing lease receivables were impaired.
Allowance for Loan Losses
Prior to the adoption of ASC Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (“ASC 326”), the Company periodically evaluated the
collectability of its loans receivable, including accrued interest, by analyzing the underlying property level economics and trends, collateral value and
quality and other relevant factors in determining the adequacy of its allowance for loan losses. A loan was determined to be impaired when, in
management’s judgment based on current information and events, it was probable that the Company would be unable to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Specific allowances for loan losses were provided for impaired loans on an individual loan
basis in the amount by which the carrying value exceeded the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral less disposition costs. As
of December 31, 2019, the Company had no allowance for loan losses recorded in its consolidated financial statements.
On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted ASC 326 on a prospective basis. ASC 326 changed how the Company accounts for credit
losses for all of the Company’s loans receivable and direct financing lease receivables. ASC 326 replaces the current “incurred loss” model with an
“expected loss” model that requires consideration of a broader range of information than used under the incurred losses model. Upon adoption of
ASC 326, the Company recorded an initial allowance for loan losses of $0.2 million as of January 1, 2020, netted against loans and direct financing
receivables on the Company’s Consolidated balance sheet. Under ASC 326, the Company is required to re-evaluate the expected loss of its loans
and direct financing lease receivable portfolio at each balance sheet date. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company
recorded an allowance for loan losses of approximately $48,000 and $0.7 million, respectively. Changes in the Company’s allowance for loan losses
are presented within provision for loan losses in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
In connection with the Company’s adoption of ASC 326 on January 1, 2020, the Company implemented a new process including the use of
loan loss forecasting models. The Company has used the loan loss forecasting model for estimating expected life-time credit losses, at the individual
loan level, for its loan and direct financing lease receivable portfolio. The forecasting model used is the probability weighted expected cash flow
method, depending on the type of asset and global assumptions.
The Company used a real estate loss estimate model (“RELEM”) which estimates losses on its loans and direct financing lease receivable
portfolio, for purposes of calculating allowances for loan losses. The RELEM allows the Company to refine (on an ongoing basis) the expected loss
estimate by incorporating loan specific assumptions as necessary, such as anticipated funding, interest payments, estimated extensions and
estimated loan repayment/refinancing at maturity to estimate cash flows over the life of the loan. The model also incorporates assumptions related
to underlying collateral values, various loss scenarios, and predicted losses to estimate expected losses. The Company specific loan-level inputs
which include loan-to-stabilized-value “LTV” and debt service coverage ratio
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metrics, as well as principal balances, property type, location, coupon, origination year, term, subordination, expected repayment dates and future
funding’s. The Company categorizes the results by LTV range, which it considers the most significant indicator of credit quality for its loans and
direct financing lease receivables. A lower LTV ratio typically indicates a lower credit loss risk.
Real estate lending has several risks that need to be considered. There is the potential for changes in local real estate conditions and
subjectivity of real estate valuations. In addition, overall economic conditions may impact the borrowers’ financial condition. Adverse economic
conditions such as high unemployment levels, interest rates, tax rates and fuel and energy costs may have an impact on the results of operations
and financial conditions of borrowers.
The Company also evaluates each loan and direct financing lease receivable measured at amortized cost for credit deterioration at least
quarterly. Credit deterioration occurs when it is deemed probable that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the loan or direct financing lease receivables.
The Company's allowance for loan losses is adjusted to reflect the Company's estimation of the current and future economic conditions that
impact the performance of the real estate assets securing our loans. These estimations include various macroeconomic factors impacting the
likelihood and magnitude of potential credit losses for the Company's loans and direct financing leases during their anticipated term.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
If circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a property may not be recoverable, the Company reviews the property for impairment.
This review is based on an estimate of the future undiscounted cash flows, excluding interest charges, expected to result from the property’s use
and eventual disposition. These estimates consider factors such as expected future operating income, market and other applicable trends and
residual value, as well as the effects of leasing demand, competition and other factors. If impairment exists due to the inability to recover the
carrying value of a property, an impairment loss is recorded to the extent that the carrying value exceeds the estimated fair value of the property for
properties to be held and used. For properties held for sale, the impairment loss is the adjustment to fair value less estimated cost to dispose of the
asset. Impairment assessments have a direct impact on the consolidated statements of operations because recording an impairment loss results in
an immediate negative adjustment to the consolidated statements of operations. During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the
Company recorded $1.5 million and $0.5 million provisions for impairment of real estate, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2020
and 2019, the Company recorded $1.9 million and $1.9 million provisions for impairment of real estate, respectively.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in the Company’s bank accounts. The Company considers all cash balances and highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. The Company deposits cash with high quality financial
institutions. These deposits are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to an insurance limit. As of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, the Company had deposits of $100.8 million and $8.3 million, respectively, of which $100.6 million and $8.1 million,
respectively, were in excess of the amount insured by the FDIC. Although the Company bears risk with respect to amounts in excess of those
insured by the FDIC, it does not anticipate any losses as a result.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash primarily consists of cash held with the trustee for the Company’s Master Trust Funding Program (as defined in Note 6—
Secured Borrowings). This restricted cash is used to make principal and interest payments on the Company’s secured borrowings, to pay trust
expenses and to invest in future real estate investments which will be pledged as collateral under the Master Trust Funding Program. See Note 6—
Secured Borrowings for further discussion.
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Adjustment to Rental Revenue for Tenant Credit
The Company continually reviews receivables related to rent and unbilled rent receivables and determines collectability by taking into
consideration the tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and
economic conditions in the area in which the property is located. As of January 1, 2019, if the assessment of the collectability of substantially all
payments due under a lease changes from probable to not probable, any difference between the rental revenue recognized to date and the lease
payments that have been collected is recognized as a current period reduction of rental revenue in the consolidated statements of operations.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $4.8 million and $0.1 million reductions of rental revenue
for tenant credit, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $5.5 million and $0.1 million
reductions of rental revenue for tenant credit, respectively.
Deferred Financing Costs
Financing costs related to establishing the Company’s 2018 Credit Facility and Revolving Credit Facility (as defined below) were deferred
and are being amortized as an increase to interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations over the term of the facility and are
reported as a component of rent receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets.
Financing costs related to the issuance of the Company’s secured borrowings under the Master Trust Funding Program, the April 2019
Term Loan and the November 2019 Term Loan (each as defined below) were deferred and are being amortized as an increase to interest expense
in the consolidated statements of operations over the term of the related debt instrument and are reported as a reduction of the related debt balance
on the consolidated balance sheets.
Derivative Instruments
In the normal course of business, the Company uses derivative financial instruments, which may include interest rate swaps, caps, options,
floors and other interest rate derivative contracts, to protect the Company against adverse fluctuations in interest rates by reducing its exposure to
variability in cash flows on a portion of the Company’s floating-rate debt. Instruments that meet these hedging criteria are formally designated as
hedges at the inception of the derivative contract. The Company records all derivatives on the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The
accounting for changes in the fair value of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether the Company has elected to designate
a derivative in a hedging relationship and apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply
hedge accounting. Derivatives designated and qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, or other types of
forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for the matching of the timing of gain or loss
recognition on the hedging instrument with the recognition of the changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk in a fair value hedge or the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. The Company may also enter
into derivative contracts that are intended to economically hedge certain risk, even though hedge accounting does not apply or the Company elects
not to apply hedge accounting.
The accounting for subsequent changes in the fair value of these derivatives depends on whether each has been designed and qualifies for
hedge accounting treatment. If a derivative is designated and qualifies for cash flow hedge accounting treatment, the change in the estimated fair
value of the derivative is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income to the extent that
it is effective. Any ineffective portion of a change in derivative fair value is immediately recorded in earnings. If the Company elects not to apply
hedge accounting treatment (or for derivatives that do not qualify as hedges), any change in the fair value of these derivative instruments is
recognized immediately in gains (losses) on derivative instruments in the consolidated statements of operations.
Fair Value Measurement
The Company estimates fair value of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities based on the framework established in fair value
accounting guidance. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to

14

Table of Contents

sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). The
hierarchy described below prioritizes inputs to the valuation techniques used in measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities. This hierarchy
maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring the most observable inputs to be used when
available. The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the reliability of inputs as follows:
Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement
date.
Level 2—Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset and liability or can be corroborated with
observable market data for substantially the entire contractual term of the asset or liability.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that reflect the Company’s own assumptions that market participants would use in the pricing of the asset or
liability and are consequently not based on market activity, but rather through particular valuation techniques.
Revenue Recognition
The Company’s rental revenue is primarily rent received from tenants. Rent from tenants is recorded in accordance with the terms of each
lease on a straight-line basis over the non-cancellable initial term of the lease from the later of the date of the commencement of the lease and the
date of acquisition of the property subject to the lease. Rental revenue recognition begins when the tenant controls the space and continues through
the term of the related lease. Because substantially all of the leases provide for rental increases at specified intervals, the Company records a
straight-line rent receivable and recognizes revenue on a straight-line basis through the expiration of the non-cancelable term of the lease. The
Company takes into account whether the collectability of rents is reasonably assured in determining the amount of straight-line rent to record.
Generally, the Company’s leases provide the tenant with one or more multi-year renewal options, subject to generally the same terms and
conditions provided under the initial lease term, including rent increases. If economic incentives make it reasonably certain that an option period to
extend the lease will be exercised, the Company will include these options in determining the non-cancelable term of the lease.
The Company defers rental revenue related to lease payments received from tenants in advance of their due dates. These amounts are
presented within accrued liabilities, derivatives and other payables on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
Certain properties in the Company’s investment portfolio are subject to leases that provide for contingent rent based on a percentage of the
tenant’s gross sales. For these leases, the Company recognizes contingent rental revenue when the threshold upon which the contingent lease
payment is based is actually reached. During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded contingent rent of $0.1
million and $0.2 million. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded contingent rent of $0.3 million and $0.6
million.
Offering Costs
In connection with the completion of equity offerings, the Company incurs legal, accounting and other offering-related costs. Such costs are
deducted from the gross proceeds of each equity offering when the offering is completed. As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the
Company had capitalized a total of $58.0 million and $49.0 million, respectively, of such costs in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. These
costs are presented as a reduction of additional paid-in capital as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Legal, accounting and other offering-related costs incurred in connection with the Secondary Offering (as defined below) were expensed
as incurred and are recorded within general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
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Income Taxes
The Company elected and qualified to be taxed as a REIT under sections 856 through 860 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, commencing with its taxable year ended December 31, 2018. REITs are subject to a number of organizational and operational
requirements, including a requirement that 90% of ordinary “REIT taxable income” (as determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction or
net capital gains) be distributed. As a REIT, the Company will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income tax to the extent that it meets the
organizational and operational requirements and its distributions equal or exceed REIT taxable income. For the period subsequent to the effective
date of its REIT election, the Company continues to meet the organizational and operational requirements and expects distributions to exceed REIT
taxable income. Accordingly, no provision has been made for U.S. federal income taxes. Even though the Company has elected and qualifies for
taxation as a REIT, it may be subject to state and local income and franchise taxes, and to federal income and excise tax on its undistributed
income. Franchise taxes and federal excise taxes on the Company’s undistributed income, if any, are included in general and administrative
expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Additionally, taxable income from non-REIT activities managed through the
Company's taxable REIT subsidiary is subject to federal, state, and local taxes.
The Company analyzes its tax filing positions in all of the U.S. federal, state and local tax jurisdictions where it is required to file income tax
returns, as well as for all open tax years in such jurisdictions. The Company follows a two-step process to evaluate uncertain tax positions. Step
one, recognition, occurs when an entity concludes that a tax position, based solely on its technical merits, is more-likely-than-not to be sustained
upon examination. Step two, measurement, determines the amount of benefit that is more-likely-than-not to be realized upon settlement.
Derecognition of a tax position that was previously recognized would occur when the Company subsequently determines that a tax position no
longer meets the more-likely-than-not threshold of being sustained. The use of a valuation allowance as a substitute for derecognition of tax
positions is prohibited.
As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company did not record any accruals for uncertain tax positions. The Company’s policy is
to classify interest expense and penalties relating to taxes in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded de minimis interest or penalties relating to taxes, and there were no
interest or penalties with respect to taxes accrued at June 30, 2020 or December 31, 2019. The 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 taxable years remain
open to examination by federal and/or state taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject.
Equity-Based Compensation
In 2020 and 2019, the Company granted shares of restricted common stock and restricted share units (“RSUs”) to its directors, executive
officers and other employees that vest over specified time periods, subject to the recipient’s continued service. The Company also granted
performance-based RSUs to its executive officers, the final number of which is determined based on objective and subjective performance
conditions and which vest over a multi-year period, subject to the recipient’s continued service. The Company accounts for the restricted common
stock and RSUs in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation – Stock Compensation, which requires that such compensation be recognized in the
financial statements based on its estimated grant-date fair value. The value of such awards is recognized as compensation expense in general and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations over the applicable service periods.
The Company recognizes compensation expense for equity-based compensation using the straight-line method based on the terms of the
individual grant.
Variable Interest Entities
The Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) provides guidance for determining whether an entity is a variable interest entity (a
“VIE”). VIEs are defined as entities in which equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support. A VIE is required to be consolidated by its
primary beneficiary, which is the party that (i) has the power to control the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance
and (ii) has the obligation to absorb losses, or the right to receive benefits, of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.
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The Company has concluded that the Operating Partnership is a VIE of which the Company is the primary beneficiary, as the Company has
the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the Operating Partnership. Substantially all of the
Company’s assets and liabilities are held by the Operating Partnership. The assets and liabilities of the Operating Partnership are consolidated and
reported as assets and liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company concluded that seven entities to which it had provided mortgage loans were VIEs, because the
entities’ equity was not sufficient to finance their activities without additional subordinated financial support. However, the Company was not the
primary beneficiary of the entities, because the Company did not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entities’
economic performance. As of December 31, 2019, the carrying amount of the Company’s loans receivable with these entities was $60.5 million and
the Company’s maximum exposure to loss in these entities is limited to the carrying amount of its investment. The Company had no liabilities
associated with these VIEs as of December 31, 2019.
As of June 30, 2020, the Company concluded that eight entities to which it had provided mortgage loans were VIEs, because the entities’
equity was not sufficient to finance their activities without additional subordinated financial support. However, the Company was not the primary
beneficiary of the entities, because the Company did not have the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entities’ economic
performance. As of June 30, 2020, the carrying amount of the Company’s loans receivable with these entities was $66.8 million and the Company’s
maximum exposure to loss in these entities is limited to the carrying amount of its investment. The Company had no liabilities associated with these
VIEs as of June 30, 2020.
Reportable Segments
ASC Topic 280, Segment Reporting, establishes standards for the manner in which enterprises report information about operating
segments. Substantially all of the Company’s investments, at acquisition, are comprised of real estate owned that is leased to tenants on a longterm basis, loans and direct financing leases. Therefore, the Company aggregates these investments for reporting purposes and operates in one
reportable segment.
Net Income per Share
Net income per share has been computed pursuant to the guidance in the FASB ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share. The guidance
requires the classification of the Company’s unvested restricted common stock and units, which contain rights to receive non-forfeitable dividends or
dividend equivalents, as participating securities requiring the two-class method of computing net income per share. Diluted net income per share of
common stock further considers the effect of potentially dilutive shares of common stock outstanding during the period, including the assumed
vesting of restricted share units with a market-based or service-based vesting condition, where dilutive. The Operating Partnership Units ("OP
Units") held by non-controlling interests represent potentially dilutive securities as the OP Units may be redeemed for cash or, at the Company’s
election, exchanged for shares of the Company’s common stock on a one-for-one basis.
The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the computation of basic and diluted net income per share
(dollars in thousands):
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Three months ended June 30,
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Net income
Less: net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Less: net income allocated to unvested restricted common stock and
RSUs

2020

$

10,444
(63)

Net income available for common stockholders: basic
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests
Net income available for common stockholders: diluted
Denominator for basic and diluted earnings per share:
Weighted average common shares outstanding
Less: weighted average number of shares of unvested restricted
common stock
Weighted average shares outstanding used in basic net income per share
Effects of dilutive securities: (1)
OP Units
Unvested restricted common stock and RSUs
Weighted average shares outstanding used in diluted net income per
share

2019

$

2020

2019

10,571 $
(2,620)

24,488 $
(147)

(77)

(112)

(207)

(267)

10,304
63

7,839
2,620

24,134
147

13,813
5,214

24,281 $

19,027

10,367

92,054,919

$

Six months ended June 30,

$

10,459 $

57,825,460

91,430,110

19,294
(5,214)

51,932,547

(450,522)

(721,784)

(466,710)

(727,814)

91,604,397

57,103,676

90,963,400

51,204,733

553,847
325,654

19,056,552
505,677

553,847
390,851

19,056,552
425,684

92,483,898

76,665,905

91,908,098

70,686,969

_____________________________________

(1)

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, excludes the impact of 73,080 and 69,196 unvested restricted stock units as the effect
would have been antidilutive.
Recent Accounting Developments

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”) establishing
ASC 326, as amended by subsequent ASUs on the topic. ASU 2016-13 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods in fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020 and recorded estimates of expected loss on its loans and direct
financing lease receivable portfolio beginning on that date, as discussed above.
In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging
Activities (“ASU 2017-12”), which amends and simplifies existing guidance in order to allow companies to more accurately present the economic
effects of risk management activities in the financial statements. The Company adopted ASU 2017-12 while accounting for its interest rate swaps
(see Note 5—Derivatives). As the Company did not have other derivatives outstanding at time of adoption, no prior period adjustments were
required. Pursuant to the provisions of ASU 2017-12, the Company is no longer required to separately measure and recognize hedge
ineffectiveness. Instead, the Company recognizes the entire change in the fair value of cash flow hedges included in the assessment of hedge
effectiveness in other comprehensive (loss) income. The amounts recorded in other comprehensive (loss) income will subsequently be reclassified
to earnings when the hedged item affects earnings. The adoption of ASU 2017-12 did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement: Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement (“ASU 2018-13”), which changes the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements by removing, adding and modifying certain
disclosures. ASU 2018-13 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. The Company adopted
this guidance on January 1, 2020 and the adoption of ASU 2018-13 did not have a material impact on the Company’s related disclosures.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-4, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) (“ASU 2020-4”). ASU 2020-4 contains practical
expedients for reference rate reform related activities that impact debt, leases, derivatives
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and other contracts. The guidance in ASU 2020-4 is optional and may be elected over time as reference rate reform activities occur. During the first
quarter of 2020, the Company has elected to apply the hedge accounting expedients related to probability and the assessments of effectiveness for
future LIBOR-indexed cash flows to assume that the index upon which future hedged transactions will be based matches the index on the
corresponding derivatives. Application of these expedients preserves the presentation of derivatives consistent with past presentation. The
Company continues to evaluate the impact of the guidance and may apply other elections as applicable as additional changes in the market occur.
In April 2020, the FASB staff issued a question and answer document (the “Lease Modification Q&A”) focused on the application of lease
accounting guidance to lease concessions provided as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. Under existing lease guidance, the entity would have to
determine, on a lease by lease basis, if a lease concession was the result of a new arrangement reached with the tenant, which would be accounted
for under the lease modification framework, or if a lease concession was under the enforceable rights and obligations that existed in the original
lease, which would be accounted for outside the lease modification framework. The Lease Modification Q&A provides entities with the option to elect
to account for lease concessions as though the enforceable rights and obligations existed in the original lease. This election is only available when
total cash flows resulting from the modified lease are substantially similar to or less than the cash flows in the original lease. The Company made
this election and accounts for rent deferrals by increasing its rent receivables as receivables accrue and continuing to recognize income during the
deferral period, resulting in $9.8 million of deferrals being recognized in rental revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020. Lease
concessions or amendments other than rent deferrals are evaluated to determine if a substantive change to the consideration in the original lease
contract has occurred and should be accounted for as a lease modification. The Company continues to evaluate any amounts recognized for
collectability, regardless of whether accounted for as a lease modification or not, and records an adjustment to rental income for tenant credit for
amounts that are not probable of collection. For lease concessions granted in conjunction with the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company reviewed all
amounts recognized on a tenant-by-tenant basis for collectability.
3. Investments
As of June 30, 2020, the Company had investments in 1,060 properties, including six developments in progress and one undeveloped land
parcel. Of these 1,060 properties, 960 represented owned properties (of which 11 were subject to leases accounted for as direct financing leases or
loans), 8 represented ground lease interests (of which one building was subject to a lease accounted for as a direct financing lease) and 92
represented properties which secure the Company’s investments in nine mortgage loans receivable. The Company’s gross investment portfolio
totaled $2.2 billion as of June 30, 2020 and consisted of gross acquisition cost of real estate investments (including transaction costs) totaling $2.1
billion, and loans and direct financing lease receivables, net, with an aggregate carrying amount of $101.0 million. As of June 30, 2020, 255 of these
investments, comprising $364.8 million of net investments, were assets of consolidated special purpose entity subsidiaries and were pledged as
collateral under the non-recourse obligations of the Company’s Master Trust Funding Program. (See Note 6—Secured Borrowings.)
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had investments in 1,000 property locations, including eight developments in progress and one
undeveloped land parcel. Of these 1,000 property locations, 897 represented owned properties (of which eight were subject to leases accounted for
as direct financing leases or loans), 12 represented ground lease interests (of which one building was subject to a lease accounted for as a direct
financing lease) and 91 represented properties which secure the Company’s investments in six mortgage loans receivable. The Company’s gross
investment portfolio totaled $2.0 billion as of December 31, 2019 and consisted of gross acquisition cost of real estate investments (including
transaction costs) totaling $1.9 billion and loans and direct financing lease receivables, net, with an aggregate carrying amount of $92.2 million. As
of December 31, 2019, 355 of these investments, comprising $601.3 million of net investments, were assets of consolidated special purpose entity
subsidiaries and were pledged as collateral under the non-recourse obligations of these special purpose entities.
Acquisitions in 2020
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company did not have any acquisitions that individually represented more than 5% of the
Company’s total investment activity as of June 30, 2020. The following table presents information about the Company’s acquisition activity during
the six months ended June 30, 2020:
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(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Total
Investments

Ownership type
Number of properties acquired

Fee Interest
73

Allocation of Purchase Price:
Land and improvements
Building and improvements

$

Construction in progress (1)
Intangible lease assets
Assets acquired

63,100
114,469
9,641
3,094
190,304

Intangible lease liabilities
Liabilities assumed

—
—

Purchase price (including acquisition costs)

$

190,304

_____________________________________

(1)

Represents amounts incurred at and subsequent to acquisition and includes $0.2 million of capitalized interest expense.
Acquisitions in 2019

During the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company did not complete any acquisitions that individually represented more than 5% of
the Company’s total investment activity as of June 30, 2019. The following table presents information about the Company’s acquisition activity
during the six months ended June 30, 2019:
(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Total
Investments

Ownership type
Number of properties acquired

Fee Interest
137

Allocation of Purchase Price:
Land and improvements
Building and improvements

$

Construction in progress (1)
Intangible lease assets
Assets acquired

287,584

Intangible lease liabilities
Liabilities assumed

(117)
(117)

Purchase price (including acquisition costs)

$

_____________________________________

(1)

96,418
175,074
5,754
10,338

Represents amounts incurred at and subsequent to acquisition and includes $0.1 million of capitalized interest.
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Gross Investment Activity
During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company had the following gross investment activity:
Number of
Investment
Locations

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Gross investments, January 1, 2019

677
137
(18)
(1)

Acquisitions of and additions to real estate investments (1)
Sales of investments in real estate
Relinquishment of properties at end of ground lease term
Provisions for impairment of real estate (2)
Investments in loans receivable
Principal collections on direct financing lease receivables
Other
Gross investments, June 30, 2019
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net investments, June 30, 2019

$

5
(11)

1,394,549
290,943
(35,383)
(241)
(1,921)
23,566
(10,412)
(866)
1,660,235
(69,010)

(3)

Gross investments, January 1, 2020
Acquisitions of and additions to real estate investments
Sales of investments in real estate
Relinquishment of properties at end of ground lease term
Provisions for impairment of real estate (4)
Investments in loans receivable
Principal collections on loans and direct financing lease receivables
Other
Gross investments, June 30, 2020
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Net investments, June 30, 2020

Dollar
Amount of
Investments

789

$

1,591,225

1,000
73
(13)
(3)

$

2,002,314
207,774
(21,882)
(1,931)
(1,859)
9,656
(130)
(1,328)

3

2,192,614
(113,235)

(3)

1,060

$

2,079,379

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

During the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company acquired nine properties that had secured one of its loans receivable for an
aggregate purchase price of $8.2 million. This loan receivable had a carrying value of $5.7 million prior to our acquisition of the mortgaged
properties.
During the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company identified and recorded provisions for impairment at 1 vacant and 5 tenanted
properties.
Includes $92.9 million and $53.0 million of accumulated depreciation as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company identified and recorded provisions for impairment at 4 vacant properties and 1
tenanted property.
Real Estate Investments

The Company’s investment properties are leased to tenants under long-term operating leases that typically include one or more renewal
options. See Note 10—Leases for more information about the Company’s leases.
Loans and Direct Financing Lease Receivables
As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had ten and seven loans receivable with an aggregate carrying amount of
$99.2 million and $89.6 million, respectively. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the borrowers partially repaid $0.1 million in
principal on loans receivable. The Company entered into three arrangements accounted for as loans receivable during the six months ended
June 30, 2020 with an aggregate carrying value of $8.6 million as of June 30, 2020. The maximum amount of loss due to credit risk is our current
principal balance of $99.2 million.
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During the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Company entered into three loan receivable arrangements.
The Company’s loans receivable as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 are summarized as follows (dollar amounts in thousands):
Principal Balance Outstanding

Loan Type

Mortgage (1)(2)
Mortgage (2)
Mortgage (1)
Mortgage (1)
Mortgage (1)
Mortgage (1)
Leasehold interest (3)
Leasehold interest (4)
Leasehold interest (4)
Leasehold interest (4)

Monthly Payment

Interest only
Principal + Interest
Interest only
Interest only
Interest only
Interest only
Principal + Interest
Principal + Interest
Principal + Interest
Principal + Interest

Number of
Secured
Properties

Interest Rate

Maturity Date

8.80%
8.10%
8.53%
8.16%
8.05%
8.42%
10.69%
2.25%
2.41%
4.97%

2039
2059
2039
2034
2034
2040
2039
2034
2034
2038

2
2
2
69
18
1
2

1
1
1

Net investment

June 30,
2020

$

December 31,
2019

$

$

12,000
6,125
7,300
28,000
34,604
5,300
1,435
1,137
1,685
1,625

12,000
5,125
7,300
28,000
34,604
—
1,435
1,164
—
—

$

99,211

$

89,628

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Loan requires monthly payments of interest only with a balloon payment due at maturity.
Loan allows for prepayments in whole or in part without penalty.
This leasehold interest is accounted for as a loan receivable, as the lease for two land parcels contains an option for the lessee to
repurchase the leased parcels in 2024 or 2025.
These leasehold interests are accounted for as loans receivable, as the leases for each property contain an option for the relevant lessee to
repurchase the leased property in the future.
Scheduled principal payments due under the Company’s loans receivable as of June 30, 2020 were as follows:

(in thousands)

Loans Receivable

July 1 - December 31, 2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

98
207
220
236
252
98,198

Total

$

99,211

As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had $2.5 million and $2.6 million, respectively, of net investments accounted for
as direct financing lease receivables. The components of the investments accounted for as direct financing lease receivables were as follows:
June 30,
2020

(in thousands)

Minimum lease payments receivable
Estimated unguaranteed residual value of leased assets
Unearned income from leased assets
Net investment

22

December 31,
2019

$

3,698
270
(1,467)

$

3,866
270
(1,581)

$

2,501

$

2,555
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Scheduled future minimum non-cancelable base rental payments due to be received under the direct financing lease receivables as of
June 30, 2020 were as follows:
Future Minimum
Base Rental
Payments

(in thousands)

July 1 - December 31, 2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total

$

169
340
345
347
289
2,208

$

3,698

Allowance for Loan Losses
As discussed in Note 2, the Company utilizes the RELEM model which estimates losses on loans and direct financing lease receivables for
purposes of calculating an allowance for loan losses. As of June 30, 2020, the Company recorded an allowance for loan losses of $0.7 million.
Changes in the Company’s allowance for loan losses are presented within provision for loan losses in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations.
For the six months ended June 30, 2020, the changes to allowance for loan losses were as follows:
Loans and Direct
Financing Lease
Receivables

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2019
Cumulative-effect adjustment upon adoption of ASC 326
Current period provision for expected credit losses (1)
Write-offs charged
Recoveries
Balance at June 30, 2020

$

—
188
516
—
—

$

704

_____________________________________

(1)

The increase in expected credit losses is due to the changes in assumptions regarding current macroeconomic factors related to COVID19.

The significant credit quality indicators for the Company’s loans and direct financing lease receivables measured at amortized cost, were as
follows as of June 30, 2020:
Amortized Cost Basis by Origination Year
(in thousands)

Credit Quality Indicator:
LTV <60%
LTV 60%-70%
LTV >70%

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

Total Amortized
Costs Basis

$

—
—
8,611

$

28,000
34,604
27,997

$

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

832
1,100
883

$

28,832
35,704
37,491

$

8,611

$

90,601

$

—

$

—

$

2,815

$

102,027

Real Estate Investments Held for Sale
The Company continually evaluates its portfolio of real estate investments and may elect to dispose of investments considering criteria
including, but not limited to, tenant concentration, tenant credit quality, tenant operation type (e.g., industry, sector or concept), unit-level financial
performance, local market conditions and lease rates, associated indebtedness and asset location. Real estate investments held for sale are
expected to be sold within twelve months.
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The following table shows the activity in real estate investments held for sale and intangible lease liabilities held for sale during the six
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Number of
Properties

(Dollar amounts in thousands)

Real Estate
Investments

Intangible Lease
Liabilities

Net Carrying
Value

Held for sale balance, December 31, 2018
Transfers to held for sale classification
Sales
Transfers to held and used classification
Held for sale balance, June 30, 2019

—
2
—
—

$

—
3,765
—
—

$

—
$
—
— %
— %

—
3,765
—
—

2

$

3,765

$

—

$

3,765

Held for sale balance, December 31, 2019
Transfers to held for sale classification
Sales
Transfers to held and used classification
Held for sale balance, June 30, 2020

1
2
(1)
—

$

1,211
1,792
(1,211)
—

$

—
—
—
—

$

1,211
1,792
(1,211)
—

2

$

1,792

$

—

$

$

$

$

1,792

Significant Concentrations
The Company did not have any tenants (including for this purpose, all affiliates of such tenants) whose rental revenue for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2020 or 2019 represented 10% or more of total rental revenue in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
The following table lists the states where the rental revenue from the properties in that state during the periods presented represented 10%
or more of total rental revenue in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations:
Three months ended June 30,
State

Texas
Georgia

Six months ended June 30,

2020

2019

2020

2019

12.9%
10.5%

12.2%
11.3%

12.6%
10.7%

12.4%
11.2%

Intangible Assets and Liabilities
Intangible assets and liabilities consisted of the following as of the dates presented:
June 30, 2020
Gross
Carrying
Amount

(in thousands)

Intangible assets:
In-place leases
Intangible market lease assets
Total intangible assets
Intangible market lease liabilities

December 31, 2019
Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

$

66,533
12,644

$

16,659
3,944

$

49,874
8,700

$

64,828
14,094

$

14,195
4,228

$

50,633
9,866

$

79,177

$

20,603

$

58,574

$

78,922

$

18,423

$

60,499

$

11,866

$

2,737

$

9,129

$

12,054

$

2,490

$

9,564
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The remaining weighted average amortization periods for the Company’s intangible assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2020, by category
and in total, were as follows:
Years Remaining

In-place leases
Intangible market lease assets
Total intangible assets

10.1
15.4
10.8

Intangible market lease liabilities

15.4

The following table discloses amounts recognized within the consolidated statements of operations related to amortization of in-place
leases, amortization and accretion of above- and below-market lease assets and liabilities, net and the amortization and accretion of above- and
below-market ground leases for the periods presented:
Three months ended June 30,
(in thousands)

2020

$

Amortization of in-place leases (1)
Amortization (accretion) of market lease intangibles, net (2)
Amortization (accretion) of above- and below-market ground lease
intangibles, net (3)

Six months ended June 30,

2019

1,846
517

$

2020

1,551
200

91

$

2019

3,525
597

—

$

2,883
444

213

—

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)
(3)

Reflected within depreciation and amortization expense.
Reflected within rental revenue.
Reflected within property expenses.

The following table provides the projected amortization of in-place lease assets to depreciation and amortization expense and net
amortization of above- and below-market lease intangibles to rental revenue for the next five years:
(in thousands)

July 1 - December
31, 2020

In-place lease assets

$

1,661

$

3,197

$

3,095

$

2,987

$

2,736

Adjustment to amortization expense

$

1,661

$

3,197

$

3,095

$

2,987

$

2,736

Above-market lease assets
Below-market lease liabilities
Net adjustment to rental revenue

$

(402)
264

$

(796)
530

$

(795)
531

$

(764)
485

$

(731)
483

$

(138)

$

(266)

$

(264)

$

(279)

$

(248)

2021

2022

2023

2024

4. Credit Facilities
On April 12, 2019, the Company, through the Operating Partnership, entered into a restated credit agreement (the “Amended Credit
Agreement”) with a group of lenders, amending and restating the terms of the Company’s previous $300 million revolving credit facility (the “2018
Credit Facility”) to increase the maximum aggregate initial original principal amount of revolving loans available thereunder up to $400.0 million (the
“Revolving Credit Facility”) and to permit the incurrence of an additional $200.0 million in term loans thereunder (the “April 2019 Term Loan”).
The Revolving Credit Facility has a term of four years from April 12, 2019, with an extension option of up to one year exercisable by the
Operating Partnership, subject to certain conditions, and the April 2019 Term Loan has a term of five years from the effective date of the amended
agreement. The loans under each of the Revolving Credit Facility and the April 2019 Term Loan initially bear interest at an annual rate of applicable
LIBOR plus the applicable margin (which applicable margin varies between the Revolving Credit Facility and the April 2019 Term Loan). The
applicable LIBOR is the rate with a term equivalent to the interest period applicable to the relevant borrowing. The applicable margin initially is a
spread set according to a leverage-based pricing grid. At the
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Operating Partnership’s election, on and after receipt of an investment grade corporate credit rating from Standard & Poor’s (“S&P”) or Moody’s
Investors Services, Inc. (“Moody’s”), the applicable margin will be a spread set according to the Company’s corporate credit ratings provided by S&P
and/or Moody’s. The Revolving Credit Facility and the April 2019 Term Loan are freely pre-payable at any time and the Revolving Credit Facility is
mandatorily payable if borrowings exceed the borrowing base or the facility limit. The Operating Partnership may re-borrow amounts paid down on
the Revolving Credit Facility but not on the April 2019 Term Loan. The Operating Partnership is required to pay revolving credit fees throughout the
term of the Revolving Credit Agreement based upon its usage of the Revolving Credit Facility, at a rate which depends on its usage of such facility
during the period before the Company receives an investment grade corporate credit rating from S&P or Moody’s, and which rate shall be based on
the corporate credit rating from S&P and/or Moody’s after the time, if applicable, the Company receives such a rating. The Operating Partnership
was required to pay a ticking fee on the April 2019 Term Loan for the period from April 12, 2019 through May 14, 2019, the date the term loans were
drawn. The Amended Credit Agreement has an accordion feature to increase, subject to certain conditions, the maximum availability of credit (either
through increased revolving commitments or additional term loans) by up to $200 million.
Additionally, on November 22, 2019, the Company further amended the Amended Credit Agreement to update certain terms to be
consistent with those as described under, and to acknowledge, where applicable, the November 2019 Term Loan (as defined below) and to make
certain other changes to the Amended Credit Agreement consistent with market practice on future replacement of the LIBOR rate and qualified
financial contracts.
The Operating Partnership is the borrower under the Amended Credit Agreement, and the Company and each of its subsidiaries that owns
a direct or indirect interest in an eligible real property asset are guarantors under the Amended Credit Agreement.
Under the terms of the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company is subject to various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants
which, among other things, require the Company to maintain certain leverage ratios, cash flow and debt service coverage ratios, secured borrowing
ratios and a minimum level of tangible net worth.
The Amended Credit Agreement restricts the Company’s ability to pay distributions to its stockholders under certain circumstances.
However, the Company may make distributions to the extent necessary to maintain its qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended. The Amended Credit Agreement contains certain additional covenants that, subject to exceptions, limit or restrict the Company’s
incurrence of indebtedness and liens, disposition of assets, transactions with affiliates, mergers and fundamental changes, modification of
organizational documents, changes to fiscal periods, making of investments, negative pledge clauses and lines of business and REIT qualification.
The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants and was not in default of any other provisions under the Amended Credit
Facility as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
November 2019 Term Loan
On November 26, 2019, the Company, through the Operating Partnership, entered into a new $430 million term loan credit facility (the
“November 2019 Term Loan”) with a group of lenders. The November 2019 Term Loan provides for term loans to be drawn up to an aggregate
amount of $430 million with a maturity of November 26, 2026. The Company had outstanding borrowings of $430.0 million at June 30, 2020 and
$250.0 million at December 31, 2019 under the November 2019 Term Loan.
Borrowings under the November 2019 Term Loan bear interest at an annual rate of applicable LIBOR plus the applicable margin. The
applicable LIBOR will be the rate with a term equivalent to the interest period applicable to the relevant borrowing. The applicable margin will initially
be a spread set according to a leverage-based pricing grid. At the operating Partnership’s irrevocable election, on and after receipt of an investment
grade corporate credit rating from S&P or Moody’s, the applicable margin will be a spread set according to the Company’s corporate credit ratings
provided by S&P and/or Moody’s. The November 2019 Term Loan is pre-payable at any time by the Operating Partnership (as borrower), provided,
that if the loans under the November 2019 Term Loan are repaid on or before November 26, 2020,they are subject to a two percent prepayment
premium, and if repaid thereafter but on or before November 26, 2021, they are subject to a one percent prepayment premium. After November 26,
2021 the loans may be repaid without penalty. The Operating Partnership may not re-borrow amounts paid down on the November 2019 Term
Loan. The Operating Partnership was required to pay a ticking fee on any undrawn portion of
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the November 2019 Term Loan for the period from November 26, 2019 through March 26, 2020, the date that the November 2019 Term Loan Was
fully drawn.The November 2019 Term Loan has an accordion feature to increase, subject to certain conditions, the maximum availability of the
facility up to an aggregate of $500 million.
The Operating Partnership is the borrower under the November 2019 Term Loan, and the Company and each of its subsidiaries that owns a
direct or indirect interest in an eligible real property asset are guarantors under the facility. Under the terms of the November 2019 Term Loan, the
Company is subject to various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants which, among other things, require the Company to maintain certain
leverage ratios, cash flow and debt service coverage ratios, secured borrowing ratios and a minimum level of tangible net worth.
Additionally, the November 2019 Term Loan restricts the Company’s ability to pay distributions to its stockholders under certain
circumstances. However, the Company may make distributions to the extent necessary to maintain its qualification as a REIT under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The facility contains certain covenants that, subject to exceptions, limit or restrict the Company’s incurrence of
indebtedness and liens, disposition of assets, transactions with affiliates, mergers and fundamental changes, modification of organizational
documents, changes to fiscal periods, making of investments, negative pledge clauses and lines of business and REIT qualification.
The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants and was not in default of any other provisions under the November 2019 Term
Loan as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
Revolving Credit Facility
The following table presents information about the Revolving Credit Facility and the 2018 Credit Facility in effect for the six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019:
(in thousands)

2020

Balance on January 1,
Borrowings
Repayments
Balance on June 30,

2019

$

46,000
69,000
(115,000)

$

34,000
119,000
(86,000)

$

—

$

67,000

Total deferred financing costs, net, of $3.1 million and $3.5 million related to the Revolving Credit Facility were included within rent
receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets, net on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively. The Company recorded $0.3 million to interest expense during the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 related to amortization
of these deferred financing costs. The Company recorded $0.6 million and $0.5 million to interest expense during the six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to amortization of these deferred financing costs.
Additionally, the Company recorded $0.5 million and $0.3 million of interest expense on borrowings and unused facility fees during the three
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to the Revolving Credit Facility and the 2018 Credit Facility. The Company recorded
$0.9 million and $1.0 million of interest expense on borrowings and unused facility fees during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, related to the Revolving Credit Facility and the 2018 Credit Facility. The weighted average interest rate in effect on the Company’s
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility as of December 31, 2019 was 3.06%.
As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had $400.0 million and $354.0 million of unused borrowing capacity related to
the Revolving Credit Facility.
Term Loan Facilities
In May 2019, the Company borrowed the entire $200.0 million available under the April 2019 Term Loan and used the proceeds to
repurchase, in part, notes previously issued under its Master Trust Funding Program. The Company borrowed the entire $430.0 million available
under the November 2019 Term Loan in separate draws in December 2019 and March 2020 and used the proceeds to voluntarily prepay notes
previously issued under its Master Trust Funding Program at par, to repay amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility and for general
working capital purposes. See Note 6—Secured Borrowings for additional information.
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Total deferred financing costs, net, of $4.1 million and $4.4 million as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, related to the Company’s
term loan facilities are included as a component of unsecured term loans, net of deferred financing costs on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet as of June 30, 2020. The Company recorded $0.2 million and approximately $41,000 to interest expense during the three months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019 related to the amortization of these fees and direct costs of its term loan facilities. The Company recorded $0.4 million and
approximately $41,000 to interest expense during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 related to the amortization of these fees and direct
costs of its term loan facilities.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020, and 2019, the Company recorded $3.1 million of interest expense, including delayed draw
ticking fees, related to its term loan facilities. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $6.5 million and
$1.0 million of interest expense, respectively, including delayed draw ticking fees, related to its term loan facilities. The variable interest rates in
effect on the Company’s borrowings under the April 2019 Term Loan and November 2019 Term Loan as of June 30, 2020 were 1.43% and 1.68%,
respectively. The variable interest rates in effect on the Company’s borrowings under the April 2019 Term Loan and November 2019 Term Loan as
of December 31, 2019 were 3.00% and 3.22%, The Company fixed the interest rates on its term loan facilities’ variable-rate debt through the use of
interest rate swap agreements. See Note 5—Derivative and Hedging Activities for additional information.
5. Derivative and Hedging Activities
The Company does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. The Company’s objectives in using
interest rate derivatives are to add stability to interest expense and to manage its exposure to interest rate movements. To accomplish these
objectives, the Company uses interest rate swaps as part of its interest rate risk management strategy. Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow
hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Company making fixed-rate payments over the life of
the agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount.
These derivatives are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges and are recorded on a gross basis at fair value. Subsequent to the
adoption of ASU 2017-12, assessments of hedge effectiveness are performed quarterly using either a qualitative or quantitative approach. The
Company recognizes the entire change in the fair value in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) and the change in fair value is reflected
as unrealized gain/loss on cash flow hedges in the supplemental disclosures of non-cash financing activities in the consolidated statement of cash
flows. The amounts recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) will subsequently be reclassified to interest expense as interest
payments are made on the Company’s borrowings under its variable-rate term loan facilities. During the next twelve months, the Company
estimates that $9.7 million will be reclassified from other comprehensive income as an increase to interest expense. The Company does not have
netting arrangements related to its derivatives.
The use of derivative financial instruments carries certain risks, including the risk that the counterparties to these contractual arrangements
are not able to perform under the agreements. To mitigate this risk, the Company only enters into derivative financial instruments with counterparties
with high credit ratings and with major financial institutions with which the Company and its affiliates may also have other financial relationships. The
Company does not anticipate that any of the counterparties will fail to meet their obligations. As of June 30, 2020, there were no events of default
related to the interest rate swaps.
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The following table summarizes the notional amount at inception and fair value of these instruments on the Company's balance sheet as of
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 (dollar amounts in thousands):
Derivatives
Designated as
Hedging Instruments
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap
Interest Rate Swap (3)
Interest Rate Swap (3)
Interest Rate Swap (3)
Interest Rate Swap (4)
Interest Rate Swap (4)

Fixed Rate Paid
by Company

Variable Rate
Paid by Bank

Effective Date

Maturity Date

2.06%
2.06%
2.07%
1.61%
1.61%
1.60%
1.36%
1.36%

1 month LIBOR
1 month LIBOR
1 month LIBOR
1 month LIBOR
1 month LIBOR
1 month LIBOR
1 month LIBOR
1 month LIBOR

2019-05-14
2019-05-14
2019-05-14
2019-12-09
2019-12-09
2019-12-09
2020-07-09
2020-07-09

2024-04-12
2024-04-12
2024-04-12
2026-11-26
2026-11-26
2026-11-26
2026-11-26
2026-11-26

Fair Value of
of
Notional Value Asset/(Liability) as
(1)
June 30, 2020 (2)
$
100,000
$
(7,177)
50,000
(3,589)
50,000
(3,595)
175,000
(14,001)
50,000
(4,014)
25,000
(1,982)
100,000
(6,446)
80,000
(5,167)

Fair Value of
Asset/(Liability) as of
December 31,
2019 (2)
$
(1,996)
(999)
(1,005)
758
210
127
—
—

$

$

630,000

$

(45,971)

(2,905)

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Notional value indicates the extent of the Company’s involvement in these instruments, but does not represent exposure to credit, interest
rate or market risks.
Derivatives in a liability position are included within accrued liabilities, derivatives and other payables in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets totaling to $46.0 million and $4.0 million at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
Derivatives in a net asset position are included within rent receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheets totaling to $1.1 million at December 31, 2019.
The Company entered into two forward swap contracts during the six months ended June 30, 2020 with an effective date of July 9, 2020
and total notional value of $180.0 million.

The Company has agreements with each of its derivative counterparties that contain a provision where if the Company either defaults or is
capable of being declared in default on any of its indebtedness, then the Company could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, the Company recorded $5.0 million and $3.9 million of accumulated other
comprehensive loss. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019, the Company recorded $43.1 million and $3.9 million of
accumulated other comprehensive loss.
As of June 30, 2020, the fair value of derivatives in a net liability position including accrued interest but excluding any adjustment for
nonperformance risk related to these agreements was $47.3 million. As of December 31, 2019, the fair value of derivatives in a net liability position
including accrued interest but excluding any adjustment for nonperformance risk related to these agreements was $4.1 million. As of June 30, 2020,
there were no derivatives in a net asset position. As of December 31, 2019, the fair value of derivatives in a net asset position including accrued
interest but excluding any adjustment for nonperformance risk related to these agreements was $1.0 million.
As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had not posted any collateral related to these agreements and was not in
breach of any provisions of such agreements. If the Company had breached any of these provisions, it could have been required to settle its
obligations under the agreements at their aggregate termination value of $47.7 million and $3.1 million as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively.
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6. Secured Borrowings
In the normal course of business, the Company transfers financial assets in various transactions with Special Purpose Entities (“SPE”)
determined to be VIEs, which primarily consist of securitization trusts established for a limited purpose (the “Master Trust Funding Program”). These
SPEs are formed for the purpose of securitization transactions in which the Company transfers assets to an SPE, which then issues to investors
various forms of debt obligations supported by those assets. In these securitization transactions, the Company typically receives cash from the SPE
as proceeds for the transferred assets and retains the rights and obligations to service the transferred assets in accordance with servicing
guidelines. All debt obligations issued from the SPEs are non-recourse to the Company.
In accordance with the accounting guidance for asset transfers, the Company considers any ongoing involvement with transferred assets in
determining whether the assets can be derecognized from the balance sheets. For transactions that do not meet the requirements for derecognition
and remain on the consolidated balance sheets, the transferred assets may not be pledged or exchanged by the Company.
The Company evaluates its interest in certain entities to determine if these entities meet the definition of a VIE and whether the Company is
the primary beneficiary and, therefore, should consolidate the entity based on the variable interests it held both at inception and when there was a
change in circumstances that required a reconsideration. The Company has determined that the SPEs created in connection with its Master Trust
Funding Program should be consolidated as the Company is the primary beneficiary of each of these entities.
In December 2016, the Company issued its first series of notes under the Master Trust Funding Program, consisting of $263.5 million of
Class A Notes and $17.3 million of Class B Notes (together, the “Series 2016-1 Notes”). These notes were issued to an affiliate of Eldridge
Industries, LLC (“Eldridge”) through underwriting agents. The Series 2016-1 Notes were issued by two SPEs formed to hold assets and issue the
secured borrowings associated with the securitization.
In July 2017, the Company issued its second series of notes under the Master Trust Funding Program, consisting of $232.4 million of
Class A Notes and $15.7 million of Class B Notes (together, the “Series 2017-1 Notes”). The Series 2017-1 Notes were issued by three SPEs
formed to hold assets and issue the secured borrowings associated with the securitization.
Tenant rentals received on assets transferred to SPEs under the Master Trust Funding Program are sent to the trustee and used to pay
monthly principal and interest payments.
The Series 2016-1 Notes were scheduled to mature in November 2046, but the terms of the Class A Notes required principal to be paid
monthly through November 2021, with a balloon repayment at that time, and the terms of the Class B Notes required no monthly principal payments
but required the full principal balance to be paid in November 2021.
The Series 2017-1 Notes mature in June 2047 and have a weighted average interest rate of 4.19% as of June 30, 2020. However, the
anticipated repayment date for the Series 2017-1 Notes is June 2024, and if the notes are not repaid in full on or before such anticipated repayment
date, additional interest will begin to accrue on the notes
The Series 2017-1 Notes may be voluntarily prepaid, in whole or in part, at any time on or after the date that is 31 months prior to the
anticipated repayment date in June 2024 without the payment of a make whole amount. Voluntary prepayments may be made before 31 months
prior to the anticipated repayment date.
In May 2019, the Company repurchased a portion of its Class A Series 2016-1 Notes with a face value of $200 million for $201.4 million
from an affiliate of Eldridge. On November 12, 2019, the Company cancelled all $200 million of these repurchased Class A Series 2016-1 Notes.
In November 2019, the Company voluntarily prepaid all $70.4 million of the then outstanding Series 2016-1 Notes (consisting of the
remaining $53.2 million Class A Series 2016-1 Notes and $17.2 million Class B Series 2016-1 Notes) at par plus accrued interest pursuant to the
terms of the agreements related to such securities.
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In February 2020, the Company voluntarily prepaid $62.3 million of the Class A Series 2017-1 Notes at par plus accrued interest pursuant to
the terms of the agreements related to such securities. The Company was not subject to the payment of a make whole amount in connection with
this prepayment. The Company accounted for this prepayment as a debt extinguishment.
As of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had notes with $175.2 million and $239.1 million, respectively, of combined
principal outstanding through its Master Trust Funding Program.
Total deferred financing costs, net, of $2.5 million and $3.8 million related to the Master Trust Funding Program were included within
secured borrowings, net of deferred financing costs on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019,
respectively. The Company recorded $0.2 million and $0.4 million to interest expense during the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, related to amortization of these deferred financing costs. The Company recorded $0.3 million and $1.0 million to interest expense
during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively, related to amortization of these deferred financing costs.
In addition, the Company recorded an additional $0.9 million of loss on repayment of secured borrowings related to the amortization of
deferred financing costs on the $62.3 million voluntary prepayment of the Class A Series 2017-1 Notes during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, other than scheduled amortizing principal payments, the Company recorded a $4.3 million
loss on the repurchase of a portion of the Class A Series 2016-1 Notes, which includes the write-off of unamortized deferred financing charges.
During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $1.8 million and $5.5 million, respectively, of interest
expense on borrowings under the Master Trust Funding Program. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded
$3.9 million and $11.3 million, respectively, of interest expense on borrowings under the Master Trust Funding Program. The Company’s secured
borrowings issued under the Master Trust Funding Program bear interest at weighted average interest rates of 4.19% and 4.17% as of
June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.
The following table summarizes the scheduled principal payments on the Company’s secured borrowings under the Master Trust Funding
Program as of June 30, 2020:
Future
Principal
Payments

(in thousands)

July 1 - December 31, 2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total

$

1,967
4,083
4,292
4,512
160,305

$

175,159

The Company was not in default of any provisions under the Master Trust Funding Program as of June 30, 2020 or December 31, 2019.
7. Equity
Stockholders’ Equity
On March 18, 2019, the Company completed a follow-on offering of 14,030,000 shares of its common stock, including 1,830,000 shares of
common stock purchased by the underwriters pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares, at an offering price of $17.50 per share, pursuant
to a registration statement on Form S-11 (File Nos. 333-230188 and 333-230252) filed with the SEC under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”). Net proceeds from this follow-on offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other expenses, were
$234.6 million.
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On July 22, 2019, EPRT Holdings, LLC (“EPRT Holdings”) and Security Benefit Life Insurance Company (together, the “Selling
Stockholders”), affiliates of Eldridge Industries, LLC (“Eldridge”), completed a secondary public offering (the “Secondary Offering”) of 26,288,316
shares of the Company’s common stock, including 3,428,910 shares of common stock purchased by underwriters pursuant to an option to purchase
additional shares. Prior to completion of the Secondary Offering, the Selling Stockholders exchanged 18,502,705 OP Units of the Operating
Partnership for a like number of shares of the Company’s common stock. The Company did not receive any proceeds from this transaction.
On January 14, 2020, the Company completed a follow-on offering of 7,935,000 shares its common stock, including 1,035,000 shares of
common stock purchased by the underwriters pursuant to an option to purchase additional shares, at an offering price of $25.20 per share. Net
proceeds from this follow-on offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and other expenses, were $191.5 million.
At the Market Program
In June 2020, the Company established a new at the market common equity offering program, pursuant to which it can publicly offer and
sell, from time to time, shares of its common stock with an aggregate gross sales price of up to $250 million (the “2020 ATM Program”). In
connection with establishing the 2020 ATM Program, the Company terminated its prior at the market program, which it established in August 2019
(the “2019 ATM Program”). Pursuant to the 2019 ATM Program, the Company could publicly offer and sell shares of its common stock with an
aggregate gross sales price of up to $200 million and, prior to its termination, the Company issued common stock with an aggregate gross sales
price of $184.4 million thereunder. As of June 30, 2020, the Company issued common stock with an aggregate gross sales price of $17.3 million
under the 2020 ATM Program and could issue additional common stock with an aggregate gross sales price of up to $232.7 million under the 2020
ATM Program. The 2019 ATM Program has been terminated, and no additional stock can be issued thereunder. As the context requires, the 2020
ATM Program and the 2019 ATM Program are referred to herein as the “ATM Program.”
During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company sold 1,027,857 shares of its common stock under the ATM Program, at a
weighted average price per share of $16.86, raising $17.3 million in gross proceeds. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company sold
1,281,555 shares of its common stock under the ATM Program, at a weighted average price per share of $18.42, raising $23.6 million in gross
proceeds. Net proceeds from selling shares under the ATM Program during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, after deducting sales
agent fees and other expenses associated with establishing and maintaining the ATM Programs, were $16.6 million and $22.7 million.
Dividends on Common Stock
During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company’s board of directors declared the following quarterly cash dividends on
common stock:
Date Declared

Record Date

Date Paid

June 11, 2020
March 18, 2020
June 7, 2019
March 7, 2019

June 30, 2020
March 31, 2020
June 28, 2019
March 29, 2019

July 15, 2020
April 15, 2020
July 15, 2019
April 16, 2019

Dividend per Share of
Common Stock

$

0.23
0.23
0.22
0.21

Total Dividend

$

21,419
21,168
12,725
12,143

8. Non-controlling Interests
Essential Properties OP G.P., LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership,
and holds a 1.0% general partner interest in the Operating Partnership. The Company contributes the net proceeds from issuing shares of common
stock to the Operating Partnership in exchange for a number of OP Units equal to the number of shares of common stock issued.
Prior to completion of the Secondary Offering, the Selling Stockholders exchanged 18,502,705 OP Units of the Operating Partnership for a
like number of shares of the Company’s common stock. Concurrently, EPRT Holdings, one of the Selling Stockholders, distributed the remaining
553,847 OP Units it held to former members of EPRT Holdings (the “Non-controlling OP Unit Holders”). The Selling Stockholders thereafter sold all
of the shares of
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common stock that they owned through the Secondary Offering and accordingly no longer owned shares of the Company’s common stock or held
OP Units following the completion of the Secondary Offering.
As of June 30, 2020, the Company held 93,024,022 OP Units, representing a 99.4% interest in the Operating Partnership. As of the same
date, the Non-controlling OP Unit Holders held 553,847 OP Units in the aggregate, representing a 0.6% limited partner interest in the Operating
Partnership. The OP Units held by EPRT Holdings and Eldridge prior to the completion of the Secondary Offering and the OP Units held by the Noncontrolling OP Unit Holders are presented as non-controlling interests in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
A holder of OP Units has the right to distributions per unit equal to dividends per share paid on the Company’s common stock and has the
right to redeem OP Units for cash or, at the Company’s election, shares of the Company's common stock on a one-for-one basis, provided,
however, that such OP Units must have been outstanding for at least one year. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company
declared total cash dividends of $0.23 and $0.46 per share of common stock, respectively. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019,
the Company declared total cash dividends of $0.21 and $0.43 per share of common stock. Distributions to OP Unit holders were declared and paid
concurrently with the Company’s cash dividends to common stockholders.
9. Equity Based Compensation
Equity Incentive Plan
In 2018, the Company adopted an equity incentive plan (the “Equity Incentive Plan”), which provides for the grant of incentive stock options,
nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, other stock awards, performance awards and LTIP units.
Officers, employees, non-employee directors, consultants, independent contractors and agents who provide services to the Company or to any
subsidiary of the Company are eligible to receive such awards. A maximum of 3,550,000 shares may be issued under the Equity Incentive Plan,
subject to certain conditions.
Restricted Stock Awards
In January 2019, an aggregate of 46,368 shares of unvested restricted common stock awards (“RSAs”) were issued to the Company’s
executive officers, other employees and an external consultant under the Equity Incentive Plan. These RSAs vest over periods ranging from one
year to four years from the date of grant, subject to the individual recipient’s continued provision of service to the Company through the applicable
vesting dates. In June 2020, an additional 3,658 RSAs were issued to certain members of the Company's board of directors which vested
immediately upon grant. The Company estimates the grant date fair value of the unvested RSAs granted under the Equity Incentive Plan using the
average market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
The following table presents information about the Company’s RSAs for the periods presented:
Three months ended June 30,
(in thousands)

Compensation cost recognized in general and administrative expense
Dividends declared on unvested RSAs and charged directly to
distributions in excess of cumulative earnings
Fair value of shares vested during the period

2020

$

Six months ended June 30,

2019

993
55
3,360

$

2020

873

$

2019

1,887

109
3,293

$

166
3,512

1,745
264
3,293

The following table presents information about the Company’s RSAs as of the dates presented:
June 30,
2020

(Dollars in thousands)

Total unrecognized compensation cost

$

Weighted average period over which compensation cost will be recognized (in years)
Restricted Stock Units
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3,197
$
1.1

December 31,
2019

5,026
1.6

Table of Contents

In January 2019 and 2020, the Company issued target grants of 119,085 and 84,684 performance-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”),
respectively, to the Company’s executive officers under the Equity Incentive Plan. Of these awards, 75% are non-vested RSUs for which vesting
percentages and the ultimate number of units vesting will be calculated based on the total shareholder return (“TSR”) of the Company's common
stock as compared to the TSR of peer companies identified in the grant agreements. The payout schedule can produce vesting percentages ranging
from 0% to 250%. TSR will be calculated based upon the average closing price for the 20-trading day period ending December 31, 2021 (for the
2019 grants) or December 31, 2022 (for the 2020 grants), divided by the average closing price for the 20-trading day period ended January 1, 2019
(for the 2019 grants) or January 1, 2020 (for the 2020 grants). The target number of units is based on achieving a TSR equal to the 50th percentile
of the peer group. The Company recorded expense on these TSR RSUs based on achieving the target.
The grant date fair value of the TSR RSUs was measured using a Monte Carlo simulation model based on the following assumptions as of
each grant date:
January
2020

Volatility
Risk free rate

2019

20 %
1.61 %

18 %
2.57 %

The remaining 25% of the performance-based RSUs issued in January 2019 and 2020 vest based on a subjective evaluation by the
Compensation Committee of the Company’s board of directors of the individual recipient’s achievement of certain strategic objectives. In May 2020,
the Compensation Committee evaluated and subjectively awarded 7,596 of these RSUs to a former executive officer of the Company, which vested
immediately. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company recorded $0.1 million of compensation expense related to the
subjective RSUs awarded to a former executive. As of June 30, 2020, the Compensation Committee had not identified specific performance targets
relating to the individual recipients’ achievement of strategic objectives for the remainder of the subjective awards. As such, the remainder of these
awards do not have either a service inception or a grant date for GAAP accounting purposes and the Company recorded no compensation cost with
respect to this portion of the performance-based RSUs during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
In June 2019, the Company issued 11,500 RSUs to the Company’s independent directors. These awards vest in full on the earlier of one
year from the grant date or the first annual meeting of stockholders that occurs after the grant date, subject to the individual recipient’s continued
provision of service to the Company through the applicable vesting date. The Company estimated the grant date fair value of these RSUs using the
average market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
Additionally, in January 2020, the Company issued an aggregate of 71,607 shares of unvested RSUs to the Company’s executive officers
and other employees under the Equity Incentive Plan. These awards vest over a period of four years from the date of grant, subject to the individual
recipient’s continued provision of service to the Company through the applicable vesting dates.
The following table presents information about the Company’s RSUs for the periods presented:
Three months ended June 30,
(in thousands)

2020

Compensation cost recognized in general and administrative expense
$
Dividend equivalents declared and charged directly to distributions in excess
of cumulative earnings
Fair value of units vested during the period

Six months ended June 30,

2019

840

$

23
896

2020

155

$

2019

1,454

2
—

42
896

$

290
2
—

The following table presents information about the Company’s RSUs as of the dates presented:
June 30,
2020

(Dollars in thousands)

Total unrecognized compensation cost
Weighted average period over which compensation cost will be recognized (in years)

34

$

5,001
$
2.8

December 31,
2019

1,584
2.4
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The following table presents information about the Company’s RSA and RSU activity during the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Restricted Stock Awards
Weighted
Average Grant
Shares
Date Fair Value

Unvested, January 1, 2019
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested, June 30, 2019
Unvested, January 1, 2020
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested, June 30, 2020

Restricted Stock Units

Units

Weighted
Average Grant
Date Fair Value

691,290
46,368
(240,753)
—

$

13.68
14.12
13.68
—

—
100,814
—
—

$

—
22.80
—
—

496,905

$

13.72

100,814

$

22.80

492,701
3,658
(255,761)
—

$

13.72
15.68
13.73
—

100,814
182,681
(42,658)
(5,571)

$

22.80
28.32
21.00
—

240,598

$

13.74

235,266

$

27.95

Unit Based Compensation
Prior to the Company’s IPO in 2018, certain of the Company’s management, board of directors and other external parties held Class B and
Class D units in EPRT Holdings which had been granted as equity awards in prior periods. Following the completion of the IPO and related
formation transactions, the Class B and Class D unitholders continued to hold vested and unvested interests in EPRT Holdings and, indirectly, the
OP Units of the Company’s Operating Partnership held by EPRT Holdings.
On July 22, 2019, in conjunction with the completion of the Secondary Offering, 3,520 previously unvested Class B units and 1,200
previously unvested Class D units in EPRT Holdings automatically vested in accordance with the terms of the grant agreements, which represented
all of the remaining outstanding unvested Class B and Class D units. Due to this accelerated vesting, the Company recorded all remaining
unrecognized compensation cost on the Class B and Class D units to general and administrative expenses in its consolidated statements of
operations at the time of vesting. No Class B or Class D units remained outstanding as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
The following table presents information about the Class B and Class D unit activity during the six months ended June 30, 2019:
Class B Units

Unvested, January 1, 2019
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Unvested, June 30, 2019

Class D Units

Total

5,230
—
(1,710)
—

1,800
—
(600)
—

7,030
—
(2,310)
—

3,520

1,200

4,720

The following table presents information about the Class B and Class D units for the periods presented:
Three months ended June 30,
2019

(in thousands)

Compensation cost recognized in general and administrative expense
Fair value of units vested during the period

$
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219
$
128

Six months ended June 30,
2019

438
718
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10. Leases
As Lessor
The Company’s investment properties are leased to tenants under long-term operating leases that typically include one or more renewal
options. The Company’s leases provide for annual base rental payments (generally payable in monthly installments), and generally provide for
increases in rent based on fixed contractual terms or as a result of increases in the Consumer Price Index. Substantially all of the leases are triplenet, which means that they provide that the lessees are responsible for the payment of all property operating expenses, including maintenance,
insurance, utilities, property taxes and, if applicable, ground rent expense; therefore, the Company is generally not responsible for repairs or other
capital expenditures related to the properties while the triple-net leases are in effect and, at the end of the lease term, the lessees are responsible
for returning the property to the Company in a substantially similar condition as when they took possession. Some of the Company’s leases provide
that in the event the Company wishes to sell the property subject to that lease, it first must offer the lessee the right to purchase the property on the
same terms and conditions as any offer which it intends to accept for the sale of the property.
Scheduled future minimum base rental payments due to be received under the remaining non-cancelable term of the operating leases in
place as of June 30, 2020 were as follows:
Future Minimum
Base Rental
Receipts

(in thousands)

July 1 - December 31, 2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

77,296
157,464
159,630
161,776
162,556
1,864,027

Total

$

2,582,749

Since lease renewal periods are exercisable at the option of the lessee, the preceding table presents future minimum base rental payments
to be received during the initial non-cancelable lease term only. In addition, the future minimum lease payments exclude contingent rent payments,
as applicable, that may be collected from certain tenants based on provisions related to performance thresholds and exclude increases in annual
rent based on future changes in the Consumer Price Index, among other items.
The fixed and variable components of lease revenues for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
Three months ended June 30,
(in thousands)

Fixed lease revenues

2020

2020

2019

$

41,828
402

$

31,968
423

$

82,231
768

$

61,929
1,516

$

42,230

$

32,391

$

82,999

$

63,445

Variable lease revenues (1)
Total lease revenues (2)

Six months ended June 30,

2019

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)

Includes contingent rent based on a percentage of the tenant’s gross sales and costs paid by the Company for which it is reimbursed by its
tenants.
Excludes the amortization and accretion of above- and below-market lease intangible assets and liabilities and lease incentives and the
adjustment to rental revenue for tenant credit.

During the three months ended June 30, 2020, the Company entered into deferral agreements with its tenants with respect to $9.8 million of
contractual base rent for the period. These rent deferrals were negotiated on a tenant-by-tenant basis, and, in general, allow a tenant to defer all or
a portion of its April, May and June rent, with all of the deferred rent to be paid to the Company pursuant to a schedule that generally extends up to
24 months from the original due date of the deferred rent. It is possible that the existing deterioration, or further deterioration, in
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the Company's tenants’ ability to operate their businesses, or delays in the supply of products or services to the Company's tenants from vendors
that they need to operate their businesses, caused by the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise, will cause the Company's tenants to be unable or
unwilling to meet their contractual obligations to us, including the payment of rent (including deferred rent) or to request further rent deferrals or other
concessions. The likelihood of this would increase if the COVID-19 pandemic intensifies or persists for a prolonged period, or if the recession in the
United States continues for a prolonged period or if there is an economic slowdown that reduces consumer confidence and economic activity. To the
extent the pandemic causes a secular change in consumer behavior that reduces patronage of service-based and/or experience-based businesses,
many of the Company's tenants would be adversely affected and their ability to meet their obligations to us could be further impaired. These
deferrals reduce the Company's cash flow from operations, reduce its cash available for distribution and adversely affect its ability to make cash
distributions to common stockholders. Furthermore, if tenants are unable to pay their deferred rent, the Company will not receive cash in the future
in accordance with its expectations.
As Lessee
The Company has a number of ground leases, an office lease and other equipment leases which are classified as operating leases. On
January 1, 2019, the Company recorded $4.8 million of right of use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities related to these operating leases. The
Company’s ROU assets were reduced by $0.1 million of accrued rent expense reclassified from accrued liabilities, derivatives and other payables
and $1.2 million of acquired above-market lease liabilities, net, reclassified from intangible lease liabilities, net and increased by $0.1 million of
acquired below-market lease assets, net, reclassified from intangible lease assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization and $0.2
million of prepaid lease payments. As of June 30, 2020, the Company’s ROU assets and lease liabilities were $4.5 million and $7.1 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s ROU assets and lease liabilities were $4.8 million and $7.5 million, respectively.
The discount rate applied to measure each ROU asset and lease liability is based on the Company’s incremental borrowing rate ("IBR").
The Company considers the general economic environment and its historical borrowing activity and factors in various financing and asset specific
adjustments to ensure the IBR is appropriate to the intended use of the underlying lease. As the Company did not elect to apply hindsight, lease
term assumptions determined under ASC 840 were carried forward and applied in calculating the lease liabilities recorded under ASC 842. Certain
of the Company’s ground leases offer renewal options which it assesses against relevant economic factors to determine whether it is reasonably
certain of exercising or not exercising the option. Lease payments associated with renewal periods that the Company is reasonably certain will be
exercised, if any, are included in the measurement of the corresponding lease liability and ROU asset.
The following table sets forth information related to the measurement of the Company’s lease liabilities as of June 30, 2020:

Weighted average remaining lease term (in years)
Weighted average discount rate

June 30,
2020

December 31, 2019

22.7
7.00%

21.9
7.00%

Upon adoption of ASC 842 on January 1, 2019 (see Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies), ground lease rents are no longer
presented on a net basis and instead are reflected on a gross basis in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the three and six
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.
The following table sets forth the details of rent expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019:
Three months ended June 30,
(in thousands)

2020

Six months ended June 30

2019

2020

2019

Fixed rent expense
Variable rent expense

$

337
—

$

358
—

$

719
—

$

721
—

Total rent expense

$

337

$

358

$

719

$

721

As of June 30, 2020, under ASC 842, future lease payments due from the Company under the ground, office and equipment operating
leases where the Company is directly responsible for payment and the future lease
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payments due under the ground operating leases where the Company’s tenants are directly responsible for payment over the next five years and
thereafter were as follows:
Office and
Ground Leases
to be Paid by
the Company

(in thousands)

July 1 - December 31, 2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total
Present value discount
Lease liabilities

Ground Leases
to be Paid
Directly by the
Company’s
Tenants

Total Future
Minimum
Base Rental
Payments

$

330
662
669
656
556
538

$

323
650
652
318
265
12,167

$

653
1,312
1,321
974
821
12,705

$

3,411

$

14,375

$

17,786
(10,715)

$

7,071

The Company has adopted the short-term lease policy election and accordingly, the table above excludes future minimum base cash rental
payments by the Company or its tenants on leases that have a term of less than 12 months at lease inception. The total of such future obligations is
not material.
11. Commitments and Contingencies
As of June 30, 2020, the Company has remaining future commitments, under mortgage notes, reimbursement obligations or similar
arrangements, to fund $23.8 million to its tenants for development, construction and renovation costs related to properties leased from the
Company.
Litigation and Regulatory Matters
In the ordinary course of business, the Company may become subject to litigation, claims and regulatory matters. There are no material
legal or regulatory proceedings pending or known to be contemplated against the Company or its properties.
Environmental Matters
In connection with the ownership of real estate, the Company may be liable for costs and damages related to environmental matters. As of
June 30, 2020, the Company had not been notified by any governmental authority of any non-compliance, liability or other claim, and is not aware of
any other environmental condition that it believes will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of
operations or liquidity.
Defined Contribution Retirement Plan
The Company has a defined contribution retirement savings plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the “401(k)
Plan”). The 401(k) Plan is available to all of the Company’s full-time employees. The Company provides a matching contribution in cash equal to
100% of the first 3% of eligible compensation contributed by participants and 50% of the next 2% of eligible compensation contributed by
participants, which vests immediately. During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company made matching contributions
of approximately $19,000 and $17,000, respectively. For both the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company made matching
contributions of $0.1 million.
Employment Agreements
The Company has employment agreements with its executive officers. These employment agreements have an initial term of four years,
with automatic one year extensions unless notice of non-renewal is provided by either party. These agreements provide for initial annual base
salaries and an annual performance bonus. If an executive officer’s employment terminates under certain circumstances, the Company would be
liable for any
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annual performance bonus awarded for the year prior to termination, to the extent unpaid, continued payments equal to 12 months of base salary,
monthly reimbursement for 12 months of COBRA premiums, and under certain situations, a pro rata bonus for the year of termination.
12. Fair Value Measurements
GAAP establishes a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on the observability of inputs used in measuring financial instruments at fair
value. GAAP establishes market-based or observable inputs as the preferred source of values, followed by valuation models using management
assumptions in the absence of market inputs.
The determination of where an asset or liability falls in the hierarchy requires significant judgment and considers factors specific to the asset
or liability. In instances where the determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the
level in the fair value hierarchy within which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement in its entirety. The Company evaluates its hierarchy disclosures regularly and, depending on various factors, it is possible that
an asset or liability may be classified differently from period to period. However, the Company expects that changes in classifications between levels
will be rare.
In addition to the disclosures for assets and liabilities required to be measured at fair value at the balance sheet date, companies are
required to disclose the estimated fair values of all financial instruments, even if they are not presented at their fair value on the consolidated
balance sheet. The fair values of financial instruments are estimates based upon market conditions and perceived risks as of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019. These estimates require management’s judgment and may not be indicative of the future fair values of the assets and liabilities.
Financial assets and liabilities for which the carrying values approximate their fair values include cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
accounts receivable included within rent receivables, prepaid expenses and other assets, dividends payable and accrued liabilities, derivatives and
other payables. Generally, these assets and liabilities are short term in duration and their carrying value approximates fair value on the consolidated
balance sheets.
The estimated fair values of the Company’s fixed-rate loans receivable have been derived based on primarily unobservable market inputs
such as interest rates and discounted cash flow analyses using estimates of the amount and timing of future cash flows, market rates and credit
spreads. These measurements are classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. The Company believes the carrying value of its fixed-rate
loans receivable approximates fair value.
The estimated fair values of the Company’s borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, the April 2019 Term Loan and the November
2019 Term Loan have been derived based on primarily unobservable market inputs such as interest rates and discounted cash flow analyses using
estimates of the amount and timing of future cash flows, market rates and credit spreads. These measurements are classified as Level 3 within the
fair value hierarchy. The Company believes the carrying value of its borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, the April 2019 Term Loan and
the November 2019 Term Loan as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 approximate fair value.
The estimated fair values of the Company’s secured borrowings have been derived based on primarily unobservable market inputs such as
interest rates and discounted cash flow analyses using estimates of the amount and timing of future cash flows, market rates and credit spreads.
These measurements are classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. As of June 30, 2020, the Company’s secured borrowings had an
aggregate carrying value of $175.2 million (excluding net deferred financing costs of $2.5 million and an estimated fair value of $167.6 million. As of
December 31, 2019, the Company’s secured borrowings had an aggregate carrying value of $239.1 million (excluding net deferred financing costs
of $3.8 million) and an estimated fair value of $247.1 million.
The Company measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value on a recurring basis. The fair values of the Company’s derivative
financial instruments were determined using widely accepted valuation techniques, including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash
flows of the derivative financial instrument. This analysis reflected the contractual terms of the derivative, including the period to maturity, and used
observable market-based inputs, including interest rate market data and implied volatilities in such interest rates. While it was determined that the
majority of the inputs used to value the derivatives fall within Level 2 of the fair
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value hierarchy under authoritative accounting guidance, the credit valuation adjustments associated with the derivatives also utilized Level 3 inputs,
such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default. However, as of June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the
significance of the impact of the credit valuation adjustments on the overall valuation of the derivative financial instruments was assessed and it was
determined that these adjustments were not significant to the overall valuation of the derivative financial instruments. As a result, it was determined
that the derivative financial instruments in their entirety should be classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. As of June 30, 2020 and
December 31, 2019, the Company estimated the fair value of its interest rate swap contracts to be a $46.0 million liability and a $2.9 million net
liability, respectively.
The Company measures its real estate investments at fair value on a nonrecurring basis. The fair values of these real estate investments
were determined using the following input levels as of the date presented:
Fair Value Measurements Using Fair Value Hierarchy

Net Carrying
Value

(in thousands)

Fair Value

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

June 30, 2020
Non-financial assets:
Long-lived assets

$

1,445

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

1,445

December 31, 2019
Non-financial assets:
Long-lived assets

$

3,864

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

3,864

Long-lived assets: The Company reviews its investments in real estate when events or circumstances change indicating that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In the evaluation of an investment in real estate for impairment, many factors are considered, including
estimated current and expected operating cash flows from the asset during the projected holding period, costs necessary to extend the life or
improve the asset, expected capitalization rates, projected stabilized net operating income, selling costs, and the ability to hold and dispose of the
asset in the ordinary course of business.
Quantitative information about Level 3 fair value measurements as of June 30, 2020 is as follows:
(dollar amounts in thousands)

Fair Value

Non-financial assets:
Long-lived assets:
Vacant - Sylacauga, AL
$

Valuation Techniques

550

Sales comparison
approach
Sales comparison
approach

709

Discounted cash flow
approach

187

Vacant - Waterloo, IA
Family Dining - Jacksonville, FL

Significant Unobservable Inputs

Binding sales contract
Non-binding listing
agreement
Terminal
Value: 8.0%
Discount
Rate: 8.5%

$

187
550

709

13. Related-Party Transactions
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, an affiliate of Eldridge provided certain treasury and information technology services
to the Company. The Company incurred a de minimis amount of expense for these services during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019,
which is included in general and administrative expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. No services were provided to the
Company during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020.
In May 2019, the Company repurchased a portion of its Class A Series 2016-1 Notes with a face value of $200 million for $201.4 million
from an affiliate of Eldridge. See Note 6—Secured Borrowings for additional information.
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14. Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated all events and transactions that occurred after June 30, 2020 through the filing of this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and determined that there have been no events that have occurred that would require adjustment to disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements except as disclosed below.
Acquisition and Disposition Activity
Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company invested in 6 real estate properties for an aggregate purchase price (including acquisitionrelated costs) of $23.3 million and invested $2.9 million through new and ongoing construction in progress and reimbursements to tenants for
development, construction and renovation costs.
Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company sold its investment in 3 real estate properties for an aggregate gross sales price of $2.9 million
and incurred $0.1 million of disposition costs related to these transactions.
Appointment of Executive Officer
In July 2020, the Company announced the appointment of Mark E. Patten as an Executive Vice President of the Company and its Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer, effective as of August 10, 2020. In association with his appointment, the Company entered into an employment
agreement Mr. Patten with similar terms and conditions as employment agreements the Company has with other executive officers. See Note 11—
Commitments and Contingencies for additional information. In recognition of his appointment, Mr. Patten will receive a one-time grant of $1,050,000
of restricted stock units which will vest in equal installments on each of the first, second and third anniversaries of the effective date of his
appointment.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
In this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we refer to Essential Properties Realty Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation, together with its
consolidated subsidiaries, including its operating partnership, Essential Properties, L.P., as “we,” “us,” “our” or the “Company,” unless we specifically
state otherwise or the context indicates otherwise.
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This quarterly report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). In particular, statements pertaining to
our business and growth strategies, investment, financing and leasing activities, the ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on us and our
tenants and various responses thereto, and trends in our business, including trends in the market for long-term, net leases of freestanding, singletenant properties, contain forward-looking statements. When used in this quarterly report, the words “estimate,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “believe,”
“intend,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “seek,” “approximately,” “plan,” and variations of such words, and similar words or phrases, that are predictions of
future events or trends and that do not relate solely to historical matters, are intended to identify forward-looking statements. You can also identify
forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions of management.
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results, performance or
achievements to be materially different from the results of operations or plans expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements; accordingly,
you should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Forward-looking statements depend on assumptions, data or
methods that may be incorrect or imprecise, and may not be able to be realized. We do not guarantee that the transactions and events described
will happen as described (or that they will happen at all). Moreover, the limitations associated with forward-looking statements have been
exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, which has introduced significant increased uncertainty into the overall business and economic
environment. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or
contemplated in the forward-looking statements:
•

general business and economic conditions;

•

ongoing adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on us and our tenants, including the ability of our tenants to pay rent to us in
accordance with their lease agreements and deferral agreements, and our ability to access debt and equity capital on reasonable
terms;

•

volatility and uncertainty in the credit markets and broader financial markets, including potential fluctuations in the Consumer Price
Index (“CPI”);

•

risks inherent in the real estate business, including tenant defaults or bankruptcies, illiquidity of real estate investments, fluctuations
in real estate values and the general economic climate in local markets, competition for tenants in such markets, potential liability
relating to environmental matters and potential damages from natural disasters;

•

the performance, financial condition and liquidity of our tenants;

•

the availability of suitable properties to invest in and our ability to invest in and lease those properties on favorable terms;

•

our ability to renew leases, lease vacant space or re-lease space as existing leases expire or are terminated;

•

the degree and nature of our competition;

•

our failure to generate sufficient cash flows to service our outstanding indebtedness;

•

our ability to access debt and equity capital on attractive terms;

•

fluctuating interest rates;

•

availability of qualified personnel and our ability to retain our key management personnel;

•

changes in, or the failure or inability to comply with, applicable law or regulation;

•

our failure to maintain our qualification for taxation as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”);

•

changes in the U.S. tax law and other U.S. laws, whether or not specific to REITs; and
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•

additional factors discussed in the sections entitled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in this quarterly report and in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December
31, 2019.

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this quarterly report. While
forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance. We disclaim any obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statement to reflect changes in underlying assumptions or factors, new information, data or methods, future
events or other changes, except as required by law.
Because we operate in a highly competitive and rapidly changing environment, new risks emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for
management to predict all such risks, nor can management assess the impact of all such risks on our business or the extent to which any risk, or
combination of risks, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. Given these risks and
uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a prediction of actual results.
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) a pandemic. See the
COVID-19 Pandemic Update ("COVID Update") section below for a discussion of the impact on our business to date, including operational changes
we have implemented, performance indicators such as rent collections through July 31, 2020 and factors that we anticipate will inform our future
decisions and actions. The current operating environment continues to evolve rapidly and may differ significantly from region to region. Our future
response and the resulting impact on our business is difficult to predict. The extent of the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on our
business going forward, including our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows is dependent on multiple factors, many of which are
unknown. For additional details, see Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Overview
We are an internally managed real estate company that invests in, owns and manages primarily single-tenant properties that are net leased
on a long-term basis to middle-market companies operating service-oriented or experience- based businesses. We generally invest in and lease
freestanding, single-tenant commercial real estate facilities where a tenant services its customers and conducts activities that are essential to the
generation of the tenant’s sales and profits.
We were organized on January 12, 2018 as a Maryland corporation. We have elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”)
for federal income tax purposes beginning with the year ended December 31, 2018, and we believe that our current organization, operations and
intended distributions will allow us to continue to so qualify.
On June 25, 2018, we completed the initial public offering (“IPO”) of our common stock. Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock
Exchange under the ticker symbol “EPRT”.
We generally lease each of our properties to a single tenant pursuant to a long-term triple-net lease, and we generate our cash from
operations primarily through the monthly lease payments, or base rent we receive from the tenants that occupy our properties. As of June 30, 2020,
we had a portfolio of 1,060 properties (inclusive of one undeveloped land parcel and 92 properties which secure our investments in mortgage loans
receivable) that was diversified by tenant, concept, industry and geography, had annualized base rent of $160.9 million and was 99.6% occupied.
Annualized base rent” means annualized contractually specified cash base rent in effect on June 30, 2020 for all of our leases (including those
accounted for as loans or direct financing leases) commenced as of that date and annualized cash interest on our mortgage loans receivable as of
that date.
Substantially all of our leases provide for periodic contractual rent escalations. As of June 30, 2020, leases contributing 99.1% of our
annualized base rent provided for increases in future annual base rent, generally ranging from 1% to 4%, with a weighted average annual escalation
equal to 1.5% of base rent. As of June 30, 2020, leases contributing 93.8% of annualized base rent were triple-net, which means that our tenant is
responsible for all operating expenses, such as maintenance, insurance, utility and tax expense, related to the leased property (including any
increases in those costs that may occur as a result of inflation). Our remaining leases were “double net,” where the tenant is responsible for certain
expenses, such as taxes and insurance, but we retain responsibility for other expenses, generally related to maintenance and structural component
replacement that may be required
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on such leased properties in the future. Also, we incur property-level expenses associated with our vacant properties and we occasionally incur
nominal property-level expenses that are not paid by our tenants, such as the costs of periodically making site inspections of our properties. We do
not currently anticipate incurring significant capital expenditures or property costs. Since our properties are predominantly single-tenant properties,
which are generally subject to long-term leases, it is not necessary for us to perform any significant ongoing leasing activities with respect to our
properties. As of June 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining term of our leases was 14.6 years (based on annualized base rent), excluding
renewal options that have not been exercised, with 4.1% of our annualized base rent attributable to leases expiring prior to January 1, 2025.
Renewal options are exercisable at the option of our tenants upon expiration of the current base lease term. Our leases providing for tenant renewal
options generally provide for periodic contractual rent escalations during any renewed term that are similar to those applicable during the initial term
of the lease.
As of June 30, 2020, 60.1% of our annualized base rent was attributable to master leases, where we have leased multiple properties to the
tenant under a master lease. Since properties are generally leased under a master lease on an “all or none” basis, the structure prevents a tenant
from “cherry picking” locations, where it unilaterally gives up underperforming properties while maintaining its leasehold interest in well-performing
properties.
COVID-19 Pandemic Update
The global spread of COVID-19, which has been declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization, has created significant uncertainty
and economic disruption, both in the near-term and potentially longer-term. The extent to which this pandemic could affect our financial condition,
liquidity, and results of operations is difficult to predict and depends on evolving factors, including: duration, scope, government actions, and other
social responses.
The impact of the pandemic has been rapidly evolving. It continues to adversely impact commercial activity and cause uncertainty and
volatility in financial markets. The outbreak is expected to have a continued adverse impact on economic and market conditions for the foreseeable
future and to prolong, for an intermediate period of time, a period of recession and/or global economic slowdown with an indeterminate duration. The
rapid development and fluidity of this situation is extreme and the ultimate adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic at this time is unknown. The
adverse impacts of the pandemic and the responses thereto may, and likely will, vary by region, and it is possible that our properties and tenants
located in certain regions will be more adversely affected than our properties and tenants located in other regions. Moreover, regions that
experience more adverse impacts from the pandemic may change over time. We derive approximately 13.5%, 10.2%, 6.5%, 5.5% of our annualized
base rent as of June 30, 2020 from Texas, Georgia, Florida and Arkansas, respectively, and these states are currently experiencing a surge in
COVID-19 cases that could adversely affect our tenants in these states and their ability to pay rent to us. See “Our Real Estate Investment Portfolio
—Diversification by Geography” below for certain information about our exposure to various states. Consequently, the COVID-19 pandemic
presents material uncertainty and risk with respect to our performance and financial results (such as our tenants’ ability to meet their financial
obligations to us (including the payment of rent and deferred rent) and the potential negative impact to occupancy), results of operations or market
values of our properties, increased risk of defaults, decreased availability of financing arrangements, additional potential risks arising from changes
in law and/or regulation, and uncertainty regarding government and regulatory policy. Additionally, increased vacancy would lead to increased
property-level expenses, as we would be obligated to pay costs (e.g., real estate taxes and insurance) that would otherwise be covered by a tenant
at a property subject to a triple-net lease. Conditions in the bank lending, capital, and other financial markets may continue to deteriorate as a result
of the pandemic, and our access to capital and other sources of funding may become constrained, which could adversely affect the availability and
terms of future borrowings, renewals, refinancings or equity issuances. In addition, the deterioration of global economic conditions as a result of the
pandemic continues to negatively impact our tenants.
We are closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on all aspects of our business, including the safety and health of our employees, our
portfolio, and tenant credit health, as well as our liquidity, capital allocation, and balance sheet management. In March 2020, we initiated steps to
prioritize the health and safety of our employees, and transitioned all of our employees to working remotely and successfully executed our business
continuity plan, with all of our core financial, operational, and telecommunication systems operating from a cloud-based environment with no
disruption.
One of our main operating functions is our proactive asset management approach. Accordingly, we continue to actively engage in
discussions with our tenants regarding the impact of COVID-19 on their business operations,
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liquidity, and financial position. Many of our tenants have either suspended or reduced their business operations. In particular, our tenants operating
businesses such as early childhood educational facilities, retail, restaurants, health and fitness facilities, entertainment outlets and movie theaters
have been particularly harmed by the pandemic. As of July 31, 2020, we estimate that properties operated by tenants contributing approximately
20% of our annualized base rent as of June 30, 2020 were closed or operating in a reduced capacity. Through July 31, 2020, we received
approximately 87% of contractual base rent that was due for July 2020, and as of such date we granted tenant-requested rent deferrals relating to
approximately $18.1 million of rent, which represents 11.3% of our annualized base rent as of June 30, 2020. These rent deferrals were negotiated
on a tenant-by-tenant basis, and, in general, allow a tenant to defer all or a portion of its rent for April, May and June, with all of the deferred rent to
be paid to us pursuant to a schedule that generally extends up to 24 months from the original due date of the deferred rent. It is possible that the
existing deterioration, or further deterioration, in our tenants’ ability to operate their businesses caused by the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise, will
cause our tenants to be unable or unwilling to meet their contractual obligations to us, including the payment of rent (including deferred rent) or to
request further rent deferrals or other forms of rent relief, such as rent reductions. Given the significant uncertainty around the duration and severity
of the impact of COVID-19, we are unable to predict the impact it will have on our tenants’ continued ability to pay rent (including deferred rent).
Therefore, information provided regarding July rent collections should not serve as an indication of expected future rent collections.
The extent to which COVID-19 impacts our operations will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be
predicted with confidence, including the duration of the outbreak, regional variations in COVID-19’s impact, and actions taken to contain COVID-19
or treat its impact, among others. The potential impact of COVID-19 on our tenants and properties could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations, and prospects, particularly if tenants are unable to meet their rental payment obligations
to us (including the payment of deferred rent), our vacancy rate increases or if we choose to grant further rent deferrals or other concessions.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Substantially all of our cash from operations is generated by our investment portfolio. As of June 30, 2020, we had $2.1 billion of net
investments in our investment portfolio, consisting of investments in 1,060 properties (inclusive of one undeveloped land parcel and 92 properties
which secure our investments in mortgage loans receivable), with annualized base rent of $160.9 million. As described above, due to the COVID-19
pandemic, we have deferred approximately $18.1 million of contractual base rent, which represents 11.3% of our annualized base rent as of
June 30, 2020. While we expect to receive deferred rent in accordance with the terms of the deferral agreements that we have entered into with our
tenants, these deferrals will have the effect of delaying our receipt of operating cash flow.
Our short-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to pay our operating expenses, including principal and interest
payments on our outstanding indebtedness, and the general and administrative expenses of servicing our portfolio and operating our business.
Since our occupancy level is high and substantially all of our leases are triple-net, our tenants are generally responsible for the maintenance,
insurance and property taxes associated with the properties they lease from us, with the result being that we have limited property-level expense.
When a property becomes vacant through a tenant default or expiration of the lease term with no tenant renewal or re-leasing, we incur the property
costs not paid by the tenant, as well as those property costs accruing during the time it takes to locate a substitute tenant or to sell the property. As
of June 30, 2020, four of our property locations were vacant and not subject to a lease (excluding one undeveloped land parcel), which represents a
99.6% occupancy rate. We expect to incur some property costs from time to time in periods during which properties that become vacant are being
marketed for lease or sale. In addition, we may recognize an expense for certain property costs, such as real estate taxes billed in arrears, if we
believe the tenant is likely to vacate the property before making payment on those obligations. The amount of such property costs can vary quarterto-quarter based on the timing of property vacancies and the level of underperforming properties; however, we do not expect that such costs will be
significant to our operations. The COVID-19 pandemic has introduced significant business uncertainty, and it could result in increased vacancy
throughout our portfolio. To the extent we see an increase in vacancy, it would cause us to incur increased property costs.
While the COVID-19 pandemic has caused us to slow our investment pace, we intend to continue to grow our portfolio over the long term
through additional real estate investments. To accomplish this objective, we seek to invest in real estate with a combination of debt and equity
capital and with cash from operations that we do not distribute to our stockholders. When we sell properties, we generally reinvest the cash
proceeds from those sales in
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new property acquisitions. Our short-term liquidity requirements also include the funding needs associated with 32 properties where we have agreed
to provide construction financing or reimburse the tenant for certain development, construction and renovation costs in exchange for contractually
specified interest or rent that generally increases in proportion with our funding. As of June 30, 2020, we had agreed to provide construction
financing or reimburse the tenant for certain development, construction and renovation costs in an aggregate amount of $145.1 million, and, as of
the same date, we had funded $131.3 million of this commitment. We expect to fund the balance of such commitment by December 31, 2021.
Additionally, as of August 4, 2020, we were under contract to acquire 23 properties with an aggregate purchase price of $55.4 million,
subject to completion of our due diligence procedures and customary closing conditions. We expect to meet our short-term liquidity requirements,
including our investment in potential future acquisitions, primarily with cash and cash equivalents, net cash from operating activities and borrowings
under the Revolving Credit Facility.
Our long-term liquidity requirements consist primarily of funds necessary to invest in additional properties and repay indebtedness. We
expect to meet our long-term liquidity requirements through various sources of capital, including net cash from operating activities, borrowings under
our Revolving Credit Facility, future financings, sales of equity securities, including under our ATM Program, proceeds from select sales of our
properties and other secured and unsecured borrowings (including potential issuances under the Master Trust Funding Program). However, at any
point in time, there may be a number of factors that could have a material and adverse effect on our ability to access these capital sources, including
unfavorable conditions in the overall equity and credit markets, our degree of leverage, our unencumbered asset base, borrowing restrictions
imposed by our lenders, general market conditions for REITs, our operating performance, liquidity and market perceptions about us. The success of
our business strategy will depend, to a significant degree, on our ability to access these various capital sources.
An additional liquidity need is funding the distributions that are among the requirements for us to continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, our board of directors declared total cash distributions of $0.46 per share of common stock. Holders of
OP Units, issued by our Operating Partnership, are entitled to distributions per unit equivalent to those paid by us per share of common stock.
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we paid $40.7 million of distributions to common stockholders and OP Unit holders, and, as of
June 30, 2020, we recorded $21.5 million of distributions payable to common stockholders and OP Unit holders. To continue to qualify for taxation
as a REIT, we must make distributions to our stockholders aggregating annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without
regard to the dividends paid deduction and excluding any net capital gain. As a result of this requirement, we cannot rely on retained earnings to
fund our business needs to the same extent as other entities that are not REITs. If we do not have sufficient funds available to us from our
operations to fund our business needs, we will need to find alternative ways to fund those needs. Such alternatives may include, among other
things, selling properties (whether or not the sales price is optimal or otherwise meets our strategic long-term objectives), incurring additional
indebtedness or issuing equity securities in public or private transactions. The availability and attractiveness of the terms of these potential sources
of financing cannot be assured.
Generally, our debt capital is initially provided on a short-term, temporary basis through our Revolving Credit Facility. We manage our longterm leverage position through the issuance of long-term fixed-rate debt on a secured or unsecured basis. By seeking to match the expected cash
inflows from our long-term investments with the expected cash outflows for our long-term debt, we seek to “lock in,” for as long as is economically
feasible, the expected positive difference between our scheduled cash inflows on the investments and the cash outflows on our debt obligations. In
this way, we seek to reduce the risk that increases in interest rates would adversely impact our results of operations. We use various financial
instruments designed to mitigate the impact of interest rate fluctuations on our cash flows and earnings, including hedging strategies such as
interest rate swaps and caps, depending on our analysis of the interest rate environment and the costs and risks of such strategies. Although we are
not required to maintain a particular leverage ratio and may not be able to do so, we generally intend to target, over time, a level of net debt (which
includes recourse and non-recourse borrowings and any outstanding preferred stock less unrestricted cash and cash held for the benefit of lenders)
that is less than six times our annualized adjusted EBITDA.
As of June 30, 2020, all of our long-term debt was fixed-rate debt or was effectively converted to a fixed-rate for the term of the debt and our
weighted average debt maturity was 5.2 years. As we grow our real estate portfolio, we intend to manage our long-term debt maturities to reduce
the risk that a significant amount of our debt will mature in any single year in the future.
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Over time, we may access additional long-term debt capital with future debt issuances through our Master Trust Funding Program. Future
sources of debt capital may also include term borrowings from insurance companies, banks and other sources, single-asset mortgage financing and
CMBS borrowings, and may offer us the opportunity to lower our cost of funding and further diversify our sources of debt capital. Over time, we may
choose to issue preferred equity as a part of our overall funding strategy. As our outstanding debt matures, we may refinance it as it comes due or
choose to repay it using cash and cash equivalents or borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility. Management believes that the cash generated
by our operations, together with our cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2020, our borrowing availability under the Revolving Credit Facility and
our potential access to additional sources of capital, will be sufficient to fund our operations for the foreseeable future and allow us to invest in the
real estate for which we currently have made commitments. However, the ultimate impact that the COVID-19 pandemic will have on our financial
condition and cash flows is uncertain and will vary depending on various factors, including the timing and manner in which operations resume at
certain of our properties that have been closed or operating in reduced capacities due to the pandemic, the ability of tenants to pay deferred rent
and the possibility that we may defer additional rent or grant additional rent concessions in the future.
Description of Certain Debt
Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility and April 2019 Term Loan
Through our Operating Partnership, we are party to an Amended Credit Agreement with a group of lenders, which provides for revolving
loans of up to $400.0 million (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and up to an additional $200.0 million in term loans (the “April 2019 Term Loan”). Under
the Revolving Credit Facility, as of June 30, 2020, we had no outstanding borrowings and had $400.0 million of unused borrowing
capacity. Additionally, as of June 30, 2020, we had $200.0 million of principal borrowings outstanding under the April 2019 Term Loan.
The Revolving Credit Facility matures in April 2023, with an extension option of up to 12-months exercisable by the Operating Partnership,
subject to certain conditions, and the April 2019 Term Loan matures in April 2024. The loans under each of the Revolving Credit Facility and the
April 2019 Term Loan Facility initially bear interest at an annual rate of applicable LIBOR plus the applicable margin (which applicable margin varies
between the Revolving Credit Facility and the April 2019Term Loan). The applicable LIBOR is the rate with a term equivalent to the interest period
applicable to the relevant borrowing. The applicable margin will initially be a spread set according to a leverage-based pricing grid. At the Operating
Partnership’s election, on and after receipt of an investment grade corporate credit rating from S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P or Moody’s,
the applicable margin will be a spread set according to our corporate credit ratings by S&P and/or Moody’s. Each of the Revolving Credit Facility and
the April 2019 Term Loan is freely pre-payable at any time and is mandatorily payable if borrowings exceed the borrowing base or the revolving
facility limit. The Operating Partnership may re-borrow amounts paid down on the Revolving Credit Facility but not on the April 2019 Term Loan. The
Operating Partnership is required to pay revolving credit fees throughout the term of the Revolving Credit Agreement based upon its usage of the
Revolving Credit Facility, at a rate which depends on its usage of such facility during the period before we receive an investment grade corporate
credit rating from S&P or Moody’s, and which rate shall be based on the corporate credit rating from S&P and/or Moody’s after the time, if
applicable, we receive such a rating. The Amended Credit Agreement has an accordion feature to increase, subject to certain conditions, the
maximum availability of credit (either through increased revolving commitments or additional term loans) by up to $200.0 million.
The Operating Partnership is the borrower under the Amended Credit Agreement, and we and each of the subsidiaries of the Operating
Partnership that owns a direct or indirect interest in an eligible real property asset are guarantors under the Amended Credit Agreement.
Under the terms of the Amended Credit Agreement, we are subject to various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants which, among
other things, require us to maintain certain leverage ratios, cash flow and debt service coverage ratios, secured borrowing ratios and a minimum
level of tangible net worth.
The Amended Credit Agreement restricts our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders under certain circumstances. However, we may
make distributions to the extent necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The
Amended Credit Agreement contains certain additional covenants that, subject to exceptions, limit or restrict our incurrence of indebtedness and
liens, disposition of assets, transactions with affiliates, mergers and fundamental changes, modification of organizational documents, changes to
fiscal periods, making of investments, negative pledge clauses and lines of business and REIT qualification.
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November 2019 Term Loan
On November 26, 2019, we, through our Operating Partnership, entered into a $430.0 million term loan credit facility (the “November 2019
Term Loan”) with a group of lenders. The November 2019 Term Loan provides for term loans to be drawn up to an aggregate amount of $430.0
million with a maturity of November 26, 2026. On December 9, 2019, we borrowed $250.0 million under the November 2019 Term Loan and, on
March 26, 2020, we borrowed the remaining $180.0 million available under the November 2019 Term Loan.
Borrowings under the November 2019 Term Loan bear interest at an annual rate of applicable LIBOR plus the applicable margin. The
applicable LIBOR will be the rate with a term equivalent to the interest period applicable to the relevant borrowing. The applicable margin will initially
be a spread set according to a leverage-based pricing grid. At the Operating Partnership’s irrevocable election, on and after receipt of an investment
grade corporate credit rating from S&P or Moody’s, the applicable margin will be a spread set according to our corporate credit ratings provided by
S&P and/or Moody’s. The November 2019 Term Loan is pre-payable at any time by the Operating Partnership, provided, that if the loans under the
November 2019 Term Loan are repaid on or before November 26, 2020, they are subject to a two percent prepayment premium, and if repaid
thereafter but on or before November 26, 2021, they are subject to a one percent prepayment premium. After November 26, 2021 the loans may be
repaid without penalty. The Operating Partnership may not re-borrow amounts paid down on the November 2019 Term Loan. The November 2019
Term Loan has an accordion feature to increase, subject to certain conditions, the maximum availability of the facility up to an aggregate of $500
million.
The Operating Partnership is the borrower under the November 2019 Term Loan, and our Company and each of its subsidiaries that owns a
direct or indirect interest in an eligible real property asset are guarantors under the facility. Under the terms of the November 2019 Term Loan, we
are subject to various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants which, among other things, require us to maintain certain leverage ratios, cash
flow and debt service coverage ratios, secured borrowing ratios and a minimum level of tangible net worth.
The November 2019 Term Loan restricts our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders under certain circumstances. However, we may
make distributions to the extent necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The
November 2019 Term Loan contains certain additional covenants that, subject to exceptions, limit or restrict our incurrence of indebtedness and
liens, disposition of assets, transactions with affiliates, mergers and fundamental changes, modification of organizational documents, changes to
fiscal periods, making of investments, negative pledge clauses and lines of business and REIT qualification.
Master Trust Funding Program
SCF RC Funding I LLC, SCF RC Funding II LLC and SCF RC Funding III LLC (collectively, the “Master Trust Issuers”), all of which are
indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership, have issued net-lease mortgage notes payable (the “Notes”) with an aggregate
gross principal balance of $175.2 million as of June 30, 2020. The Notes are secured by all assets owned by the Master Trust Issuers. We provide
property management services with respect to the mortgaged properties owned by the Master Trust Issuers and service the related leases pursuant
to an amended and restated property management and servicing agreement, dated as of July 11, 2017, among the Master Trust Issuers, the
Operating Partnership (as property manager and as special servicer), Midland Loan Services, a division of PNC Bank, National Association, (as
back-up manager) and Citibank, N.A. (as indenture trustee).
Beginning in 2016, two series of Notes, each comprised of two classes, were issued under the program: (i) Notes originally issued by SCF
RC Funding I LLC and SCF RC Funding II LLC (the “Series 2016-1 Notes”), which were repaid in full in November 2019, and (ii) Notes originally
issued by SCF RC Funding I LLC, SCF RC Funding II LLC and SCF RC Funding III LLC (the “Series 2017-1 Notes”), with an aggregate outstanding
principal balance of $175.2 million as of June 30, 2020. The Notes are the joint obligations of all Master Trust Issuers.
Notes issued under our Master Trust Funding Program are secured by a lien on all of the property owned by the Master Trust Issuers and
the related leases. A substantial portion of our real estate investment portfolio serves as collateral for borrowings outstanding under our Master Trust
Funding Program. As of June 30, 2020, we had pledged 255 properties, with a net investment amount of $364.8 million, under the Master Trust
Funding Program. The agreement governing our Master Trust Funding Program permits substitution of real estate collateral from time to time,
subject to certain conditions.
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Absent a plan to issue additional long-term debt through the Master Trust Funding Program, we are not required to add assets to, or
substitute collateral in, the existing collateral pool. We can voluntarily elect to substitute assets in the collateral pool, subject to meeting prescribed
conditions that are designed to protect the collateral pool by requiring the substitute assets to be of equal or greater measure in attributes such as:
the asset’s fair value, monthly rent payments, remaining lease term and weighted average coverage ratios. In addition, we can sell underperforming
assets and reinvest the proceeds in new properties. Any substitutions and sales are subject to an overall limitation of 35% of the collateral pool
which is typically reset at each new issuance unless the substitution or sale is credit- or risk-based, in which case there are no limitations.
A significant portion of our cash flows are generated by the special purpose entities comprising our Master Trust Funding Program. For the
three months ended June 30, 2020, excess cash flow from the Master Trust Funding Program, after payment of debt service and servicing and
trustee expenses, totaled $3.3 million on cash collections of $6.7 million, which represents a debt service coverage ratio (as defined in the program
documents) of 2.8 to 1. If at any time the monthly debt service coverage ratio (as defined in the program documents) generated by the collateral
pool is less than or equal to 1.25 to 1, excess cash flow from the Master Trust Funding Program entities will be deposited into a reserve account to
be used for payments to be made on the Notes, to the extent there is a shortfall; if at any time the three month average debt service coverage ratio
generated by the collateral pool is less than or equal to 1.15 to 1, excess cash flow from the Master Trust Funding Program entities will be applied to
an early amortization of the Notes. If cash generated by our properties held in the Master Trust Funding Program is required to be held in a reserve
account or applied to an early amortization of the Notes, it would reduce the amount of cash available to us and could limit or eliminate our ability to
make distributions to our common stockholders.
The Notes require monthly payments of principal and interest. The payment of principal and interest on any Class B Notes is subordinate to
the payment of principal and interest on any Class A Notes. The Series 2017-1 Notes mature in June 2047 and have a weighted average interest
rate of 4.19% as of June 30, 2020. However, the anticipated repayment date for the Series 2017-1 Notes is June 2024, and if the notes are not
repaid in full on or before such anticipated repayment date, additional interest will begin to accrue on the notes.
The Series 2017-1 Notes may be voluntarily prepaid, in whole or in part, at any time on or after the date that is 31 months prior to the
anticipated repayment date in June 2024 without the payment of a make whole amount. Voluntary prepayments may be made before 31 months
prior to the anticipated repayment date but will be subject to the payment of a make whole amount.
An event of default will occur under the Master Trust Funding Program, if, among other things, the Master Trust Issuers fail to pay interest or
principal on the Notes when due, materially default in complying with the material covenants contained in the documents evidencing the Notes or the
mortgages on the mortgaged property collateral or if a bankruptcy or other insolvency event occurs. Under the master trust indenture, we have a
number of Master Trust Issuer covenants including requirements to pay any taxes and other charges levied or imposed upon the Master Trust
Issuers and to comply with specified insurance requirements. We are also required to ensure that all uses and operations on or of our properties
comply in all material respects with all applicable environmental laws. As of June 30, 2020, we were in material compliance with all such covenants.
As of June 30, 2020, scheduled principal repayments on the Notes issued under the Master Trust Funding Program for the remainder of
2020 were $2.0 million. We expect to meet these repayment requirements primarily through our net cash from operating activities.
Cash Flows
Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
As of June 30, 2020, we had $100.8 million of cash and cash equivalents and $8.7 million of restricted cash as compared to $7.8 million and
$10.1 million, respectively, as of June 30, 2019.
Cash Flows for the six months ended June 30, 2020
During the six months ended June 30, 2020, net cash provided by operating activities was $36.5 million. Our cash flows from operating
activities are primarily dependent upon the occupancy level of our portfolio, the rental rates specified in our leases, the collectability of rent and the
level of our operating expenses and other general and
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administrative costs. Cash inflows related to net income adjusted for non-cash items of $52.3 million (net income of $24.5 million adjusted for noncash items, including depreciation and amortization of tangible, intangible and right-of-use real estate assets, amortization of deferred financing
costs and other assets, loss on repurchase of secured borrowings, provision for impairment of real estate, gain on dispositions of real estate, net,
straight-line rent receivable, and equity-based compensation expense, of $27.8 million). These cash inflows were partially offset by rent receivables,
prepaid expenses and other assets of $11.8 million and accrued liabilities and other payables of $4.1 million.
Net cash used in investing activities during the six months ended June 30, 2020 was $192.4 million. Our net cash used in investing activities
is generally used to fund our investments in real estate, including capital expenditures, the development of our construction in progress and
investments in loans receivable, offset by cash provided from the disposition of real estate and principal collections on our loans and direct financing
lease receivables. The cash used in investing activities included $190.4 million to fund investments in real estate, including capital expenditures,
$9.7 million to fund construction in progress, $9.7 million of investments in loans receivable, and $7.7 million paid to tenants as lease incentives.
These cash outflows were partially offset by $23.0 million of proceeds from sales of investments, net of disposition costs $0.1 million of principal
collections on our loans and direct financing lease receivables and $2.0 million in deposits on prospective real estate investments.
Net cash provided by financing activities of $244.1 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 related to net cash inflows of $215.3
million from the issuance of common stock in a follow-on offering and through our ATM Program, $69.0 million of borrowings under the Revolving
Credit Facility, and $180.0 of borrowings under the November 2019 Term Loan Facility. These cash inflows were partially offset by, $63.9 million of
repayments of secured borrowing principal, $115.0 million of repayments on the Revolving Credit Facility, the payment of $40.7 million in dividends
and $0.5 million of offering costs related to the follow-on offering and the ATM Program.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2020.
Contractual Obligations
The following table provides information with respect to our commitments as of June 30, 2020:
Payment due by period
(in thousands)

Secured Borrowings—Principal

Total

$

Secured Borrowings—Fixed Interest (1)
Unsecured Term Loans (2)
Revolving Credit Facility (3)
Tenant Construction Financing and
Reimbursement Obligations (4)
Operating Lease Obligations (5)

$

23,825
17,786
$

Total

175,159
28,025
630,000
—

July 1 - December
31, 2020

874,795

1,967
3,653
—
—

2021 - 2022

$

23,825
653
$

30,098

8,375
14,195
—
—

2023 - 2024

$

—
2,633
$

25,203

164,817
10,177
200,000
—

Thereafter

$

—
1,795
$

376,789

—
—
430,000
—
—
12,705

$

442,705

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Includes interest payments on outstanding indebtedness issued under our Master Trust Funding Program through the anticipated
repayment date.
Borrowings under the April 2019 Term Loan and November 2019 Term Loan bear interest at an annual rate of applicable LIBOR plus an
applicable margin.
Balances on the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at an annual rate of applicable LIBOR plus an applicable margin. We also pay a
facility fee on the total unused commitment amount of 0.15% or 0.25%, depending on our current unused commitment.
Includes obligations to reimburse certain of our tenants for construction costs that they incur in connection with construction at our
properties in exchange for contractually specified rent that generally increases proportionally with our funding.
Includes $14.4 million of rental payments due under ground lease arrangements where our tenants are directly responsible for payment.
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Additionally, we may enter into commitments to purchase goods and services in connection with the operation of our business. These
commitments generally have terms of one-year or less and reflect expenditure levels comparable to our historical expenditures.
We have made an election to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes beginning with our taxable year ended December 31,
2018; accordingly, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax, provided we distribute all of our REIT taxable income, determined without
regard to the dividends paid deduction, to our stockholders.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires
our management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions. Estimates and
assumptions include, among other things, subjective judgments regarding the fair values and useful lives of our properties for depreciation and lease
classification purposes, the collectability of receivables and asset impairment analysis. We base estimates on the best information available to us at
the time, our experience and on various other assumptions believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. If our judgment or interpretation of the facts and circumstances relating to various transactions
or other matters had been different, it is possible that different accounting would have been applied, resulting in a different presentation of our
consolidated financial statements. From time to time, we reevaluate our estimates and assumptions. In the event estimates or assumptions prove to
be different from actual results, adjustments are made in subsequent periods to reflect more current estimates and assumptions about matters that
are inherently uncertain. A summary of our critical accounting policies is included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2019 in the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” We have not
made any material changes to these policies during the periods covered by this quarterly report except as follows:
Allowance for Loan Losses
Prior to the adoption of ASC Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (“ASC 326”), we periodically evaluated the collectability of our
loans receivable, including accrued interest, by analyzing the underlying property-level economics and trends, collateral value and quality and other
relevant factors in determining the adequacy of its allowance for loan losses. A loan was determined to be impaired when, in management’s
judgment based on current information and events, it was probable that we would be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual
terms of the loan agreement. Specific allowances for loan losses were provided for impaired loans on an individual loan basis in the amount by
which the carrying value exceeded the estimated fair value of the underlying collateral less disposition costs. As of December 31, 2019, we had no
allowance for loan losses recorded in our consolidated financial statements.
On January 1, 2020, we adopted ASC 326 on a prospective basis. ASC 326 changed how we account for credit losses for all of our loans
receivable and direct financing lease receivables. ASC 326 replaces the current “incurred loss” model with an “expected loss” model that requires
consideration of a broader range of information than used under the incurred losses model. Upon adoption of ASC 326, we recorded an initial
allowance for loan losses of $0.2 million as of January 1, 2020, netted against loans and direct financing receivables on our consolidated balance
sheet. Under ASC 326, we are required to re-evaluate the expected loss of our loans and direct financing lease receivable portfolio at each balance
sheet date. As of June 30, 2020, we recorded an allowance for loan losses of $0.7 million. Changes in our allowance for loan losses are presented
within provision for loan losses in our consolidated statements of operations.
In connection with our adoption of ASC 326 on January 1, 2020, we implemented a new process including the use of loan loss forecasting
models. We have used the loan loss forecasting model for estimating expected life-time credit losses, at the individual asset level, for our loans and
direct financing lease receivable portfolio. The forecasting model used is the probability weighted expected cash flow method, depending on the type
of loan and global assumptions.
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We use a real estate loss estimate model (“RELEM”) which estimates losses on our loans and direct financing lease receivable portfolio, for
purposes of calculating allowances for loan losses. The RELEM allows us to refine (on an ongoing basis) the expected loss estimate by
incorporating loan specific assumptions as necessary, such as anticipated funding, interest payments, estimated extensions and estimated loan
repayment/refinancing at maturity to estimate cash flows over the life of the loan. The model also incorporates assumptions related to underlying
collateral values, various loss scenarios, and predicted losses to estimate expected losses. Our specific loan-level inputs include loan-to-stabilizedvalue “LTV” and debt service coverage ratio metrics, as well as principal balances, property type, location, coupon, origination year, term,
subordination, expected repayment dates and future funding’s. We categorize the results by LTV range, which we consider the most significant
indicator of credit quality for our loans and direct financing lease receivables. A lower LTV ratio typically indicates a lower credit loss risk.
Real estate lending has several risks that need to be considered. There is the potential for changes in local real estate conditions and
subjectivity of real estate valuations. In addition, overall economic conditions may impact the borrowers’ financial condition. Adverse economic
conditions such as high unemployment levels, interest rates, tax rates and fuel and energy costs may have an impact on the results of operations
and financial conditions of borrowers.
We also evaluates each loan and direct financing lease receivable measured at amortized cost for credit deterioration at least quarterly.
Credit deterioration occurs when it is deemed probable that we will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the
loan or direct financing lease receivables.
Our allowance for loan losses is adjusted to reflect our estimation of the current and future economic conditions that impact the performance
of the real estate assets securing our loans. These estimations include various macroeconomic factors impacting the likelihood and magnitude of
potential credit losses for our loans and direct financing leases during their anticipated term.
Recent Accounting Developments
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASU 2016-13”) establishing
ASC 326, as amended by subsequent ASUs on the topic. ASU 2016-13 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods in fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2019. We adopted this guidance on January 1, 2020 and recorded estimates of expected loss on its loans receivable portfolio
beginning on that date.
In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging
Activities (“ASU 2017-12”), which amends and simplifies existing guidance in order to allow companies to more accurately present the economic
effects of risk management activities in the financial statements. The Company adopted ASU 2017-12 while accounting for its interest rate swaps
(see Note 5—Derivatives). As the Company did not have other derivatives outstanding at time of adoption, no prior period adjustments were
required. Pursuant to the provisions of ASU 2017-12, the Company is no longer required to separately measure and recognize hedge
ineffectiveness. Instead, the Company recognizes the entire change in the fair value of cash flow hedges included in the assessment of hedge
effectiveness in other comprehensive (loss) income. The amounts recorded in other comprehensive (loss) income will subsequently be reclassified
to earnings when the hedged item affects earnings. The adoption of ASU 2017-12 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement: Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement (“ASU 2018-13”), which changes the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements by removing, adding and modifying certain
disclosures. ASU 2018-13 is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption permitted. We adopted this
guidance on January 1, 2020 and the adoption of ASU 2018-13 did not have a material impact on our related disclosures.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848) (“ASU 2020-04”). ASU 2020-04 contains practical
expedients for reference rate reform related activities that impact debt, leases, derivatives and other contracts. The guidance in ASU 2020-04 is
optional and may be elected over time as reference rate reform activities occur. During the first quarter of 2020, the Company has elected to apply
the hedge accounting expedients related to probability and the assessments of effectiveness for future LIBOR-indexed cash flows to assume that
the index upon which future hedged transactions will be based matches the index on the

52

Table of Contents

corresponding derivatives. Application of these expedients preserves the presentation of derivatives consistent with past presentation. We continue
to evaluate the impact of the guidance and may apply other elections as applicable as additional changes in the market occur.
During April 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB”) staff issued a question and answer document (the “Lease
Modification Q&A”) focused on the application of lease accounting guidance to lease concessions provided as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Under existing lease guidance, the entity would have to determine, on a lease by lease basis, if a lease concession was the result of a new
arrangement reached with the tenant, which would be accounted for under the lease modification framework, or if a lease concession was under the
enforceable rights and obligations that existed in the original lease, which would be accounted for outside the lease modification framework. The
Lease Modification Q&A provides entities with the option to elect to account for lease concessions as though the enforceable rights and obligations
existed in the original lease. This election is only available when total cash flows resulting from the modified lease are substantially similar to the
cash flows in the original lease. We made this election and account for rent deferrals by increasing our rent receivables as receivables accrue and
continuing to recognize income during the deferral period, resulting in $9.8 million of deferrals being recognized in rental revenues for the three and
six months ended June 30, 2020. Lease concessions or amendments other than rent deferrals are evaluated to determine if a substantive change to
the consideration in the original lease contract has occurred and should be accounted for as a lease modification. We continue to evaluate any
amounts recognized for collectability, regardless of whether accounted for as a lease modification or not, and record an adjustment to rental income
for tenant credit for amounts that are not probable of collection. For lease concessions granted in conjunction with the COVID-19 pandemic, we
reviewed all amounts recognized on a tenant-by-tenant basis for collectability.
Our Real Estate Investment Portfolio
As of June 30, 2020, we had a portfolio of 1,060 properties, including one undeveloped land parcel, four vacant properties and 92 properties
that secure our investments in mortgage loans receivable, that was diversified by tenant, concept, industry and geography and had annualized base
rent of $160.9 million. Our 215 tenants operate 289 different concepts in 16 industries across 43 states. None of our tenants represented more than
3.2% of our portfolio at June 30, 2020, and our top ten largest tenants represented 23.0% of our annualized base rent as of that date.
Diversification by Tenant
As of June 30, 2020, our top ten tenants included the following concepts: Captain D's, Mister Car Wash, AMC, Circle K, EquipmentShare,
The Malvern School, R-Store, Vasa Fitness, and Burger King/Popeye's. Our 1,055 leased properties are operated by our 215 tenants. The following
table details information about our tenants and the related concepts as of June 30, 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Tenant(1)

Captain D's, LLC
Cadence Education, LLC
Car Wash Partners, Inc.
American Multi-Cinema, Inc. (3)
Mac's Convenience Stores, LLC (4)
Equipmentshare.com Inc.
Malvern School Properties, LP
GPM Investments, LLC (5)
Vasa Fitness, LLC
Carrols LLC (6)

Concept

Captain D's
Various
Mister Car Wash
AMC
Circle K
EquipmentShare
The Malvern School
R-Store
Vasa Fitness
Burger King/Popeye's

Annualized
Base Rent

Number of
Properties (2)

74
23
13
5
34
11
13
26
5
24

$

228
827

Top 10 Subtotal
Other

1,055

Total/Weighted Average

53

$

5,094
4,719
4,275
3,712
3,686
3,515
3,208
2,956
2,937
2,830

% of
Annualized
Base Rent

3.2
2.9
2.7
2.3
2.3
2.2
2.0
1.8
1.8
1.8

%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%
%

36,932
123,934

23.0 %
77.0 %

160,866

100.0 %
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(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Represents tenant or guarantor.
Excludes one undeveloped land parcel and four vacant properties.
Includes four properties leased to a subsidiary of AMC Entertainment Holdings, Inc.
Includes properties leased to a subsidiary of Alimentation Couche Tard Inc.
Includes one property leased to a subsidiary of GPM investments, LLC.
Includes properties leased to affiliates of tenant entity, all of which are subsidiaries of Carrols Restaurant Group, Inc.

As of June 30, 2020, our five largest tenants, who contributed 13.4% of our annualized base rent, had a rent coverage ratio of 3.1x and our
ten largest tenants, who contributed 23.0% of our annualized base rent, had a rent coverage ratio of 3.0x.
As of June 30, 2020, 93.8% of our leases (based on annualized base rent) were triple-net, and the tenant is typically responsible for all
improvements and is contractually obligated to pay all operating expenses, such as maintenance, insurance, utility and tax expense, related to the
leased property. Due to the triple-net structure of our leases, we do not expect to incur significant capital expenditures relating to our triplenet leased properties, and the potential impact of inflation on our operating expenses is reduced.
Diversification by Concept
Our tenants operate their businesses across 289 concepts. The following table details those concepts as of June 30, 2020 (dollars in
thousands):

Concept

Annualized
Base
Rent

Type of Business

Captain D's
Mister Car Wash
Circle K
AMC
EquipmentShare
The Malvern School
Vasa Fitness
Ladybird Academy
Applebee's
R-Store

Service
Service
Service
Experience
Service
Service
Experience
Service
Service
Service

$

Top 10 Subtotal
Other

36,061
124,805
$

Total

5,939
4,275
4,022
3,712
3,515
3,208
2,937
2,827
2,814
2,812

160,866

_____________________________________

(1)

Excludes one undeveloped land parcel and four vacant properties.
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% of
Annualized
Base Rent

3.7 %
2.7
2.5
2.3
2.2
2.0
1.8
1.8
1.7
1.7
22.4
77.6
100.0 %

Number of
Properties (1)

Building
(Sq. Ft.)

83
13
36
5
11
13
5
7
16
25

215,022
54,621
139,799
240,672
205,940
149,781
258,085
89,495
82,941
105,703

214
841

1,542,059
6,919,119

1,055

8,461,178
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Diversification by Industry
Our tenants’ business concepts are diversified across various industries. The following table summarizes those industries as of
June 30, 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Tenant Industry

Quick Service
Early Childhood Education
Car Washes
Medical / Dental
Convenience Stores
Automotive Service
Casual Dining
Other Services
Family Dining
Pet Care Services
Service Subtotal

Service
Service
Service
Service
Service
Service
Service
Service
Service
Service

Health and Fitness

Experience

Entertainment
Movie Theatres
Experience Subtotal

Experience
Experience

Home Furnishings

Retail

Grocery
Retail Subtotal

Retail

Building Materials

Industrial

Total

Annualized
Base
Rent

Type of
Business

$

$

% of
Annualized
Base Rent

23,037
21,640
19,226
18,109
16,476
8,935
8,850
6,457
5,426
5,415

Building
(Sq. Ft.)

Rent Per
Sq. Ft. (2)

14.3 %
13.5
12.0
11.3
10.2
5.6
5.5
4.0
3.4
3.4

314
94
82
105
143
78
61
30
36
33

839,474
974,143
384,242
662,465
581,486
457,340
371,825
377,855
211,085
214,718

133,572

83.0

976

5,074,633

25.87

10,830
6,246
4,343

6.7
3.9
2.7

25
18
6

1,004,189
647,483
293,206

10.78
10.24
14.81

21,419

13.3

49

1,944,878

11.23

2,225
955

1.4
0.6

7
4

383,415
161,296

5.80
5.92

3,180

2.0

11

544,711

5.84

2,696

1.7

19

896,956

1,055

8,461,178

160,866

100.0 %

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)

Number of
Properties (1)

Excludes one undeveloped land parcel and four vacant properties.
Excludes properties with no annualized base rent and properties under construction.
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$

27.66
21.51
48.89
26.56
28.33
19.54
23.80
17.09
27.03
20.20

3.01
$

18.81
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Diversification by Geography
Our 1,060 property locations are spread across 43 states. The following table details the geographical locations of our properties as of
June 30, 2020 (dollars in thousands):
Annualized
Base Rent

State

% of
Annualized
Base Rent

Number of
Properties

Building
(Sq. Ft.)

Texas
Georgia
Florida
Arkansas
Ohio
Alabama
Wisconsin
Arizona
Minnesota
Tennessee
Michigan
North Carolina
Colorado
Pennsylvania
Massachusetts
South Carolina
New York
Illinois
Kentucky
New Mexico
Iowa
Mississippi
Missouri
Indiana
Oklahoma
Maryland
Kansas
South Dakota
Washington
Louisiana
Connecticut
Oregon
Virginia
Utah
West Virginia
Nebraska
Wyoming
California
Idaho
New Jersey
Nevada
New Hampshire
Alaska

$

21,751
16,411
10,484
8,830
7,197
6,686
6,354
5,861
5,331
5,161
4,973
4,402
4,378
4,262
4,043
3,769
3,412
3,401
2,905
2,763
2,682
2,678
2,546
2,406
2,384
1,887
1,685
1,677
1,515
1,437
1,166
1,075
1,183
911
889
458
425
386
383
353
226
141
—

13.5 %
10.2
6.5
5.5
4.5
4.2
3.9
3.6
3.3
3.2
3.1
2.7
2.7
2.6
2.5
2.3
2.1
2.1
1.8
1.7
1.7
1.7
1.6
1.5
1.5
1.2
1.0
1.0
0.9
0.9
0.7
0.7
0.7
0.6
0.6
0.3
0.3
0.2
0.2
0.2
0.1
0.1
0.0

131
107
53
68
57
49
39
28
31
44
42
21
24
27
14
26
32
21
26
18
21
26
20
22
13
8
7
7
10
9
6
6
7
2
17
7
2
3
1
2
1
3
2

1,103,185
618,090
474,027
301,826
565,728
452,259
261,833
240,370
442,872
219,884
457,097
274,313
216,883
227,665
286,831
251,007
77,817
166,472
150,592
83,651
119,173
109,409
144,261
100,618
238,171
68,324
102,545
41,472
77,293
65,811
51,551
124,931
54,130
67,659
73,101
17,776
14,001
30,870
35,433
16,224
34,777
9,914
6,630

Total

$

160,866

100.0 %

1,060

8,476,475
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Lease Expirations
As of June 30, 2020, the weighted average remaining term of our leases was 14.6 years (based on annualized base rent), with only 4.1% of
our annualized base rent attributable to leases expiring prior to January 1, 2025. The following table sets forth our lease expirations for leases in
place as of June 30, 2020 (dollars in thousands):
Annualized
Base Rent

Lease Expiration Year (1)

% of Annualized
Base Rent

Number of
Properties (2)

Weighted
Average Rent
Coverage Ratio (3)

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035
2036
2037
2038
2039
Thereafter

$

90
139
773
823
4,648
1,443
2,395
4,243
4,491
4,996
3,764
8,497
11,029
10,332
25,121
9,036
2,486
7,892
16,183
28,191
14,297

0.1 %
0.1
0.5
0.5
2.9
0.9
1.5
2.6
2.8
3.1
2.3
5.3
6.9
6.4
15.6
5.6
1.5
4.9
10.1
17.5
8.9

1
2
5
10
46
13
14
28
18
70
46
46
56
40
197
68
21
52
90
159
73

1.9x
3.5x
3.8x
3.4x
4.1x
3.3x
2.1x
3.2x
2.4x
3.9x
4.7x
3.0x
4.1x
2.6x
3.2x
2.7x
1.4x
3.7x
2.2x
2.6x
2.6x

Total/Weighted Average

$

160,866

100.0 %

1,055

3.0x

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)
(3)

Expiration year of contracts in place as of June 30, 2020, excluding any tenant option renewal periods that have not been exercised.
Excludes one undeveloped land parcel and four vacant properties.
Weighted by annualized base rent.
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Results of Operations
The following discussion includes the results of our operations for the periods presented.
Comparison of the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Three months ended June 30,
2020

(dollar amounts in thousands)

Revenues:
Rental revenue
Interest on loans and direct financing lease receivables
Other revenue, net

$

2019

36,465
2,037
1

$

32,111
403
241

Change

$

4,354
1,634
(240)

%

13.6 %
405.4 %
—

Total revenues

38,503

32,755

5,748

Expenses:
Interest
General and administrative
Property expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for impairment of real estate
Provision for loan losses

7,403
6,253
572
13,464
1,486
48

5,779
4,737
645
10,105
481
—

1,624
1,516
(73)
3,359
1,005
48

Total expenses
Other operating income:
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net

29,226

21,747

7,479

1,093

3,474

(2,381)

Income from operations
Other (loss)/income:
Loss on repayment and repurchase of secured borrowings
Interest income

10,370

14,482

10,656

—
144

(4,353)
518

4,353
(374)

—
(72.2) %

Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense

10,514
70

10,647
76

(133)
(6)

(7.9) %

Net income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests

10,444
(63)

10,571
(2,620)

(127)
2,557

(97.6) %

Net income attributable to stockholders

$

10,381

$

7,951

$

28.1 %
32.0 %
(11.3) %
33.2 %
208.9 %
—

(68.5) %

2,431

Rental revenue. Rental revenue increased by $4.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2019. The increase in revenues period over period was driven primarily by the growth in the size of our real estate investment
portfolio, which generated additional rental revenues. Our real estate investment portfolio grew from 789 properties, representing $1.6 billion in net
investments in real estate, as of June 30, 2019 to 1,060 properties, representing $2.1 billion in net investments in real estate, as of June 30, 2020.
Our real estate investments were made throughout the periods presented and were not all outstanding for the entire period; accordingly, a
significant portion of the increase in revenues between periods is related to recognizing revenue in 2020 from acquisitions that were made during
2019 and 2020. A smaller component of the increase in revenues between periods is related to rent escalations recognized on our lease contracts;
these rent increases can provide a strong source of revenue growth. This revenue growth was partially offset by reductions of rental revenue for
tenant credit. During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $4.8 million and $0.1 million reductions of rental
revenue for tenant credit, respectively.
Interest on loans and direct financing lease receivables. Interest on loans and direct financing lease receivables increased by $1.6 million
for the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019, primarily due to additional investments in loans
receivable during 2019 and 2020, which led to a higher average daily balance of loans receivable outstanding during the three months ended
June 30, 2020.
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Other revenue. Other revenue decreased by $0.2 during the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to three months ended
June 30, 2019, primarily due to the receipt of lease termination fees from former tenants during the three months ended June 30, 2019.
Interest expense. Interest expense increased by $1.6 million during the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the three
months ended June 30, 2019. In 2019, the Company canceled the May 2019 repurchase and fully repaid the Series 2016-1 Notes that were
outstanding. In February 2020, the Company partially repaid the Series 2017-1 Notes that were outstanding. The repayment of Master Trust
Funding notes resulted in a decrease of $2.2 million in interest expense for the three months ended June 30, 2020. The decrease was offset by the
increase of borrowing of funds under the April 2019 Term Loan and November 2019 Term Loan resulted in additional cash interest expense of
$2.0 million during for the three months ended June 30, 2020. In addition, amortization of deferred financing costs for the April 2019 Term Loan and
the November 2019 Term Loan resulted in an increase of $0.1 million, for the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2019. In addition, additional borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility resulted in additional interest expense and unused
borrowing fees of $0.1 million, as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. Additionally, there was a $1.5 million increase due to interest
expense related to our interest rate swaps.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $1.5 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2020 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. This increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily related
to operating our larger real estate portfolio, including increased equity-based compensation expense, legal fees, and directors’ fees, as well as one
time severance costs.
Property expenses. Property expenses decreased by approximately $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to
the three months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in property expenses was primarily due to a decrease in personal property expenses.
Depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $3.4 million during the three months ended
June 30, 2020 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. Depreciation and amortization expense increased in proportion to the
increase in the size of our real estate portfolio three months ended June 30, 2020
Provision for impairment of real estate. Impairment charges on real estate investments were $1.5 million and $0.5 million for the three
months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. During the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, we recorded a provision for
impairment of real estate at three and two of our real estate investments, respectively. We strategically seek to identify non-performing properties
that we may re-lease or dispose of in an effort to improve our returns and manage risk exposure. An increase in vacancy associated with our
disposition or re-leasing strategies may trigger impairment charges when the expected future cash flows from the properties from sale or re-lease
are less than their net book value.
Provision for loan losses. Provision for loan losses of approximately $48,000 was recorded for the three months ended June 30, 2020. This
provision is related to the changes in the Company’s loan loss reserve subsequent to the adoption of ASC Topic 326 – Credit Losses. Under ASC
326, the Company is required to re-evaluate the expected loss of its loans receivable portfolio at each balance sheet date.
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net. Gain on dispositions of real estate, net, decreased by $2.4 million for the three months ended
June 30, 2020 as compared to the three months ended June 30, 2019. We disposed of 3 real estate properties during the three months ended
June 30, 2020, compared to our disposition of 11 real estate properties during the three months ended June 30, 2019.
Loss on repayment and repurchase of secured borrowings. Loss on repurchase of secured borrowings of $4.4 million was recorded during
the three months ended June 30, 2019, due to the write-off of deferred financing costs related to the partial repayment of the Series 2017-1 Notes in
February 2020. There was no loss on repurchase during the three months ended June 30, 2020.
Interest income. Interest income decreased by $0.4 million for the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in interest income was primarily due to higher average daily cash balances in our interest-bearing bank
accounts and higher interest rates during the three months ended June 30, 2019.
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Income tax expense. Income tax expense decreased by $6,000 for the three months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the three months
ended June 30, 2019. We are organized and operate as a REIT and are not subject to U.S. federal corporate income taxes on our REIT taxable
income that is currently distributed to our stockholders. However, the Operating Partnership is subject to taxation in certain state and local
jurisdictions that impose income taxes on a partnership. The changes in income tax expense are primarily due to changes in the proportion of our
real estate portfolio located in jurisdictions where we are subject to taxation.
Comparison of the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Six months ended June 30,

(dollar amounts in thousands)
Revenues:
Rental revenue
Interest income on loans and direct financing lease receivables
Other revenue, net

2020

$

Total revenues
Expenses:
Interest
General and administrative
Property expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for impairment of real estate
Provision for loan losses

2019

76,007
3,976
8

$

62,884
729
248

Change

$

13,123
3,247
(240)

79,991

63,861

16,130

14,236
13,789
945
26,476
1,859
516

12,867
8,925
1,892
19,225
1,921
—

1,369
4,864
(947)
7,251
(62)
516

44,830

12,991

20.9 %
445.6 %
(96.6) %

10.6 %
54.5 %
(50.0) %
37.7 %
(3.2) %
—

Total expenses
Other operating income:
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net

57,821
2,968

4,150

(1,182)

Income from operations
Other (loss)/income:
Loss on repayment and repurchase of secured borrowings
Interest income

25,138

23,181

1,957

(924)
375

(4,353)
609

3,429
(234)

(78.8) %
(38.4) %

Income (loss) before income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense (benefit)

24,589
101

19,437
143

5,152
(42)

(29.4) %

Net income
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests

24,488
(147)

19,294
(5,214)

5,194
5,067

(97.2) %

Net income attributable to stockholders

$

24,341

57821

%

$

14,080

$

(28.5) %

10,261

Rental revenue. Rental revenue increased by $13.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to the six months ended
June 30, 2019. The increase in revenues period over period was driven primarily by the growth in the size of our real estate investment portfolio,
which generated additional rental revenues. Our real estate investment portfolio grew from 789 properties, representing $1.6 billion in net
investments in real estate, as of June 30, 2019 to 1,060 properties, representing $2.1 billion in net investments in real estate, as of June 30, 2020.
Our real estate investments were made throughout the periods presented and were not all outstanding for the entire period; accordingly, a
significant portion of the increase in revenues between periods is related to recognizing revenue in 2020 from acquisitions that were made during
2019 and 2020. A smaller component of the increase in revenues between periods is related to rent escalations recognized on our lease contracts;
these rent increases can provide a strong source of revenue growth. This revenue growth was partially offset by reductions of rental revenue for
tenant credit. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized $5.5 million and $0.1 million reductions of rental
revenue for tenant credit, respectively.
Interest on loans and direct financing lease receivables. Interest on loans and direct financing lease receivables increased by $3.2 million
for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the six months ended
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June 30, 2019, primarily due to additional investments in loans receivable during 2019 and 2020, which led to a higher average daily balance of
loans receivable outstanding during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
Other revenue. Other revenue decreased $0.2 during the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to six months ended
June 30, 2019, primarily due to the receipt of lease termination fees from former tenants during the six months ended June 30, 2019.
Interest expense. Interest expense increased by $1.4 million during the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the six months
ended June 30, 2019. The increases are due to an increase of borrowing of funds under the April 2019 Term Loan and November 2019 Term Loan
resulted in additional cash interest expense of $6.0 million during for the six months ended June 30, 2020. The Revolving Credit Facility resulted in a
decrease of interest expense and unused borrowing fees of $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020. Additionally, there was an increase
of $1.7 million due to our interest expense related to our interest rate swaps. In 2019, the Company fully repaid the Series 2016-1 Notes that were
outstanding. In February 2020, the Company partially repaid the Series 2017-1 Notes that were outstanding. The repayment of Master Trust
Funding notes resulted in a decrease of $5.7 million in cash interest expense and a $0.2 million decrease of amortization of deferred financing costs
for the six months ended June 30, 2020.
General and administrative expenses. General and administrative expenses increased $4.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020
as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. This increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily related to operating our
larger real estate portfolio, including increased equity-based compensation expense, legal fees, and directors’ fees, as well as one time severance
costs.
Property expenses. Property expenses decreased by approximately $0.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to
the six months ended June 30, 2019. The decrease in property expenses was primarily due to a decrease in personal property expenses.
Depreciation and amortization expense. Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $7.3 million during the six months ended
June 30, 2020 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. Depreciation and amortization expense increased in proportion to the increase
in the size of our real estate portfolio during the six months ended June 30, 2020.
Provision for impairment of real estate. Impairment charges on real estate investments were $1.9 million and $1.9 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2020, and 2019, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, we recorded a provision for impairment of real
estate at five and six of our real estate investments, respectively. We strategically seek to identify non-performing properties that we may re-lease or
dispose of in an effort to improve our returns and manage risk exposure. An increase in vacancy associated with our disposition or re-leasing
strategies may trigger impairment charges when the expected future cash flows from the properties from sale or re-lease are less than their net book
value.
Provision for loan losses. Provision for loan losses of $0.5 million was recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2020. This provision is
related to the changes in the Company’s loan loss reserve subsequent to the adoption of ASC Topic 326 – Credit Losses. Under ASC 326, the
Company is required to re-evaluate the expected loss of its loans receivable portfolio at each balance sheet date.
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net. Gain on dispositions of real estate, net, increased by $1.2 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2020 as compared to the six months ended June 30, 2019. We disposed of 13 real estate properties during the six months ended
June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Loss on repayment and repurchase of secured borrowings. Loss on repurchase of secured borrowings decreased by$3.4 million was
recorded during the six months ended June 30, 2019, was primarily due to the loss on extinguishment of $4.4 million, related to the repurchase of
the Class A Series 2016-1 Notes during the six months ended June 30, 2019. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, we recorded $0.9 million
on the loss of repurchase of secured borrowings due to the write-off deferred financing costs related to the partial repayment of the Series 2017-1
Notes in February 2020.
Interest income. Interest income decreased by $0.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the six months ended
June 30, 2019. The decrease in interest income was primarily due to higher
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average daily cash balances in our interest-bearing bank accounts and higher interest rates during the six months ended June 30, 2019.
Income tax expense. Income tax expense decreased by approximately $42,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to the
six months ended June 30, 2019. We are organized and operate as a REIT and are not subject to U.S. federal corporate income taxes on our REIT
taxable income that is currently distributed to our stockholders. However, the Operating Partnership is subject to taxation in certain state and local
jurisdictions that impose income taxes on a partnership. The changes in income tax expense are primarily due to changes in the proportion of our
real estate portfolio located in jurisdictions where we are subject to taxation.
Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Our reported results are presented in accordance with GAAP. We also disclose the following non-GAAP financial measures: funds from
operations (“FFO”), core funds from operations (“Core FFO”), adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”), earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortization (“EBITDA”), EBITDA further adjusted to exclude gains (or losses) on sales of depreciable property and real estate impairment
losses (“EBITDAre”), adjusted EBITDAre, annualized adjusted EBITDAre, net debt, net operating income (“NOI”) and cash NOI (“Cash NOI”). We
believe these non-GAAP financial measures are industry measures used by analysts and investors to compare the operating performance of REITs.
We compute FFO in accordance with the definition adopted by the Board of Governors of the National Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”). NAREIT defines FFO as GAAP net income or loss adjusted to exclude extraordinary items (as defined by GAAP), net
gain or loss from sales of depreciable real estate assets, impairment write-downs associated with depreciable real estate assets and real estaterelated depreciation and amortization (excluding amortization of deferred financing costs and depreciation of non-real estate assets), including the
pro rata share of such adjustments of unconsolidated subsidiaries. FFO is used by management, and may be useful to investors and analysts, to
facilitate meaningful comparisons of operating performance between periods and among our peers primarily because it excludes the effect of real
estate depreciation and amortization and net gains and losses on sales (which are dependent on historical costs and implicitly assume that the
value of real estate diminishes predictably over time, rather than fluctuating based on existing market conditions).
We compute Core FFO by adjusting FFO, as defined by NAREIT, to exclude certain GAAP income and expense amounts that we believe
are infrequent and unusual in nature and/or not related to our core real estate operations. Exclusion of these items from similar FFO-type metrics is
common within the equity REIT industry, and management believes that presentation of Core FFO provides investors with a metric to assist in their
evaluation of our operating performance across multiple periods and in comparison to the operating performance of our peers, because it removes
the effect of unusual items that are not expected to impact our operating performance on an ongoing basis. Core FFO is used by management in
evaluating the performance of our core business operations. Items included in calculating FFO that may be excluded in calculating Core FFO
include certain transaction related gains, losses, income or expense or other non-core amounts as they occur.
To derive AFFO, we modify our computation of Core FFO to include other adjustments to GAAP net income related to certain items that we
believe are not indicative of our operating performance, including straight-line rental revenue, non-cash interest expense, non-cash compensation
expense, other amortization expense, other non-cash charges (including changes to our provision for loan losses following the adoption of ASC
326), capitalized interest expense and transaction costs. Such items may cause short-term fluctuations in net income but have no impact on
operating cash flows or long-term operating performance. We believe that AFFO is an additional useful supplemental measure for investors to
consider when assessing our operating performance without the distortions created by non-cash items and certain other revenues and expenses.
FFO, Core FFO and AFFO do not include all items of revenue and expense included in net income, they do not represent cash generated
from operating activities and they are not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash requirements; accordingly, they should not be
considered alternatives to net income as a performance measure or cash flows from operations as a liquidity measure and should be considered in
addition to, and not in lieu of, GAAP financial measures. Additionally, our computation of FFO, Core FFO and AFFO may differ from the
methodology for calculating these metrics used by other equity REITs and, therefore, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported
by other equity REITs.
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The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to FFO, Core FFO and AFFO attributable to
stockholders and non-controlling interests:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

(in thousands)

Net income
Depreciation and amortization of real estate
Provision for impairment of real estate
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net
FFO attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests

$

Other non-recurring expenses (1)
Core FFO attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests
Adjustments:
Straight-line rental revenue, net
Non-cash interest
Non-cash compensation expense
Other amortization expense
Other non-cash charges
Capitalized interest expense
Transaction costs
AFFO attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests

$

10,444
13,439
1,486
(1,093)

Six months ended June 30,

2019

$

10,571
10,081
481
(3,474)

2020

$

24,488
26,427
1,859
(2,968)

2019

$

19,294
19,178
1,921
(4,150)

24,276
560

17,659
4,353

49,806
2,136

36,243
4,353

24,837

22,012

51,942

40,596

(2,170)
237
1,399
919
48
(65)
42

(2,994)
709
1,247
213
3
(45)
—

(5,361)
771
2,690
1,353
516
(160)
109

(5,897)
1,525
2,473
440
7
(70)
—

25,247

$

21,145

$

51,861

$

39,074

_____________________________________

(1)

Includes non-recurring expenses of $0.4 million and $1.1 million for severance payments and acceleration of non-cash compensation
expense in connection with the termination of one of our executive officers during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020,
respectively, $0.1 million of non-recurring recruiting costs during the three and six months ended June 30, 2020 and our $0.9 million loss on
repayment of secured borrowings during the six months ended June 30, 2020.

We compute EBITDA as earnings before interest, income taxes and depreciation and amortization. In 2017, NAREIT issued a white paper
recommending that companies that report EBITDA also report EBITDAre. We compute EBITDAre in accordance with the definition adopted by
NAREIT. NAREIT defines EBITDAre as EBITDA (as defined above) excluding gains (or losses) from the sales of depreciable property and real
estate impairment losses. We present EBITDA and EBITDAre as they are measures commonly used in our industry. We believe that these
measures are useful to investors and analysts because they provide supplemental information concerning our operating performance, exclusive of
certain non-cash items and other costs. We use EBITDA and EBITDAre as measures of our operating performance and not as measures of liquidity.
EBITDA and EBITDAre do not include all items of revenue and expense included in net income, they do not represent cash generated from
operating activities and they are not necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash requirements; accordingly, they should not be considered
alternatives to net income as a performance measure or cash flows from operations as a liquidity measure and should be considered in addition to,
and not in lieu of, GAAP financial measures. Additionally, our computation of EBITDA and EBITDAre may differ from the methodology for calculating
these metrics used by other equity REITs and, therefore, may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other equity REITs.
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The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to EBITDA and EBITDAre attributable to
stockholders and non-controlling interests:
Three months ended June 30,
(in thousands)

Net income
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income
Income tax expense
EBITDA attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests
Provision for impairment of real estate
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net
EBITDAre attributable to stockholders and non-controlling
interests

2020

$

10,444
13,464
7,403
(144)
70

$

31,237
1,486
(1,093)
$

31,630

Six months ended June 30,

2019

10,571
10,105
5,779
(518)
76

2020

$

26,013
481
(3,474)
$

23,020

24,488
26,476
14,236
(375)
101

2019

$

64,926
1,859
(2,968)
$

63,817

19,294
19,225
12,867
(609)
143
50,920
1,921
(4,150)

$

48,691

We further adjust EBITDAre for the most recently completed quarter i) based on an estimate calculated as if all investment and disposition
activity that took place during the quarter had been made on the first day of the quarter, ii) to exclude certain GAAP income and expense amounts
that we believe are infrequent and unusual in nature and iii) to eliminate the impact of lease termination fees and contingent rental revenue from
certain of our tenants, which is subject to sales thresholds specified in the applicable leases (“Adjusted EBITDAre”). We then annualize quarterly
Adjusted EBITDAre by multiplying it by four (“Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre”), which we believe provides a meaningful estimate of our current run
rate for all of our investments as of the end of the most recently completed quarter. You should not unduly rely on this measure, as it is based on
assumptions and estimates that may prove to be inaccurate. Our actual reported EBITDAre for future periods may be significantly less than our
current Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre.
The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre attributable to
stockholders and non-controlling interests for the three months ended June 30, 2020:
Three months ended June 30,
2020

(in thousands)

Net income
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
Interest income
Income tax expense
EBITDA attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests

$

10,444
13,464
7,403
(144)
70
31,237
1,486
(1,093)

Provision for impairment of real estate
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net

31,630
401
3,431

EBITDAre attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests
Adjustment for current quarter investment and disposition activity (1)
Adjustment to exclude other non-recurring expenses (2)
Adjusted EBITDAre attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests

$

35,462

Annualized Adjusted EBITDAre attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests

$

141,848

_____________________________________

(1)
(2)

Adjustment assumes all investments in and dispositions of real estate made during the three months ended June 30, 2020 had occurred on
April 1, 2020.
Adjustment is made to exclude non-core expenses added back to compute Core FFO, our provision for loan losses and the write-off of
receivables.

64

Table of Contents

We calculate our net debt as our gross debt (defined as total debt plus net deferred financing costs on our secured borrowings) less cash
and cash equivalents and restricted cash deposits held for the benefit of lenders. We believe excluding cash and cash equivalents and restricted
cash deposits held for the benefit of lenders from gross debt, all of which could be used to repay debt, provides an estimate of the net contractual
amount of borrowed capital to be repaid, which we believe is a beneficial disclosure to investors and analysts.
The following table reconciles total debt (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to net debt as of the dates indicated:
June 30,
2020

(in thousands)

Secured borrowings, net of deferred financing costs
Unsecured term loans, net of deferred financing costs
Revolving credit facility

$

Total debt
Deferred financing costs, net
Gross debt
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash deposits held for the benefit of lenders
$

Net debt

172,662
625,941
—

December 31,
2019

$

235,336
445,586
46,000

798,603
6,557

726,922
8,181

805,160
(100,839)
(8,665)

735,103
(8,304)
(13,015)

695,656

$

713,784

We compute NOI as total revenues less property expenses. NOI excludes all other items of expense and income included in the financial
statements in calculating net income or loss, in accordance with GAAP. Cash NOI further excludes non-cash items included in total revenues and
property expenses, such as straight-line rental revenue and other amortization and non-cash charges. We believe NOI and Cash NOI provide useful
and relevant information because they reflect only those revenue and expense items that are incurred at the property level and present such items
on an unlevered basis.
NOI and Cash NOI are not measures of financial performance under GAAP. You should not consider our NOI and Cash NOI as alternatives
to net income or cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with GAAP. Additionally, our computation of NOI and Cash NOI may
differ from the methodology for calculating these metrics used by other equity REITs, and, therefore, may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other equity REITs.
The following table reconciles net income (which is the most comparable GAAP measure) to NOI and Cash NOI attributable to stockholders
and non-controlling interests:
Three months ended June 30,
(in thousands)

Net income
Interest expense
General and administrative expense
Depreciation and amortization
Provision for impairment of real estate
Provision for loan losses
Loss on repayment and repurchase of secured borrowings
Interest income
Income tax expense
Gain on dispositions of real estate, net
NOI attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests

2020

$

$

37,930
(2,170)
919

Straight-line rental revenue, net
Other amortization expense
Cash NOI attributable to stockholders and non-controlling interests

10,444
7,403
6,253
13,464
1,486
48
—
(144)
70
(1,093)

$

65

36,680

Six months ended June 30,

2019

10,571
5,779
4,737
10,105
481
—
4,353
(518)
76
(3,474)

2020

$

32,110
(2,994)
214
$

29,330

24,488
14,236
13,789
26,476
1,859
516
(924)
(375)
101
(2,968)

2019

$

77,198
(5,361)
1,353
$

73,190

19,294
12,867
8,925
19,225
1,921
—
4,353
(609)
143
(4,150)
61,969
(5,897)
443

$

56,515
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Over time, we generally seek to match the expected cash inflows from our long-term investments with the expected cash outflows for our
long-term debt. To achieve this objective, we have borrowed on a fixed-rate basis through longer-term debt issuances under our Master Trust
Funding Program. Additionally, we incur debt that bears interest at floating rates under the Revolving Credit Facility, which we use in connection with
our operations, including for funding investments, and the April 2019 Term Loan and the November 2019 Term Loan. We have fixed the floating
rates on borrowings under the term loan facilities by entering into interest rate swap agreements where we pay a fixed interest rate and receive a
floating interest rate equal to the rate we pay on the respective term loan. As of June 30, 2020, we had $175.2 million of principal outstanding under
our Master Trust Funding Program, which bears interest at a weighted average fixed rate of 4.19% per annum as of such date, and had
$630.0 million of combined principal outstanding on the April 2019 Term Loan and the November 2019 Term Loan. The variable interest rates in
effect on our borrowings under the April 2019 Term Loan and November 2019 Term Loan as of June 30, 2020 were 1.43% and 1.68%, respectively.
We have fixed the interest rates on the term loan facilities’ variable-rates through the use of interest rate swap agreements. At
June 30, 2020, our aggregate liability in the event of the early termination of our swaps was $47.7 million. At June 30, 2020, a 100-basis point
increase of the interest rates on these facilities would increase our related interest costs by $0.5 million per year and a 100-basis point decrease of
the interest rate would decrease our related interest costs by $0.5 million per year.
We are exposed to interest rate risk between the time we enter into a sale-leaseback transaction or acquire a leased property and the time
we finance the related real estate with long-term fixed-rate debt. In addition, when our long-term debt matures, we may have to refinance the debt at
a higher interest rate. Market interest rates are sensitive to many factors that are beyond our control. Our interest rate risk management objective is
to limit the impact of future interest rate changes on our earnings and cash flows. Additionally, our long-term debt under our Master Trust Funding
Program generally provides for some amortization of the principal balance over the term of the debt, which serves to reduce the amount of
refinancing risk at debt maturity.
In addition to amounts that we borrow under the Revolving Credit Facility, we may incur variable-rate debt in the future that we do not
choose to hedge. Additionally, decreases in interest rates may lead to increased competition for the acquisition of real estate due to a reduction in
desirable alternative income-producing investments. Increased competition for the acquisition of real estate may lead to a decrease in the yields on
real estate we have targeted for acquisition. In such circumstances, if we are not able to offset the decrease in yields by obtaining lower interest
costs on our borrowings, our results of operations will be adversely affected. Significant increases in interest rates may also have an adverse impact
on our earnings if we are unable to acquire real estate with rental rates high enough to offset the increase in interest rates on our borrowings.
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic both in the Unites States and globally continues to cause uncertainty and volatility in financial
markets. The outbreak is expected to have a continued adverse impact on market conditions for the foreseeable future and to trigger a period of
recession and/or global economic slowdown with no known duration. At June 30, 2020, our portfolio had the following concentrations of property
types with heightened risk due to closures or reduced operations as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, based on the percentage of our annualized
base rent as of that date:
•

23.2% casual dining, family dining and quick service restaurants;

•

11.3% medical/dental;

•

13.5% early childhood education;

•

6.7% health and fitness; and

•

6.6% entertainment outlets and movie theaters.

There may be an impact across all industries and geographic regions in which our tenants operate as a result of COVID-19. Given the
significant uncertainty around the duration and severity of COVID-19, we are unable to predict the impact it will have on our tenants’ continued ability
to pay rent, including deferred rent.
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Fair Value of Fixed-Rate Indebtedness
The estimated fair value of our fixed-rate indebtedness under the Master Trust Funding Program is calculated based primarily on
unobservable market inputs such as interest rates and discounted cash flow analyses using estimates of the amount and timing of future cash flows,
market rates and credit spreads. The following table discloses fair value information related to our fixed-rate indebtedness as of June 30, 2020:
(in thousands)

Carrying Value (1)

Secured borrowings under Master Trust Funding Program

$

175,159

Estimated Fair
Value

$

167,556

_____________________________________

(1)

Excludes net deferred financing costs of $2.5 million.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information we are required to
disclose in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to
management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.
As of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our management evaluated, under the supervision and with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief Financial Officer, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such
term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Interim Chief
Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective in providing reasonable assurance of compliance.
Changes in Internal Control
There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during our most recent fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
We are subject to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings. Management does not believe that the resolution of any of these
matters either individually or in the aggregate will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or
liquidity. Further, from time to time, we are party to various lawsuits, claims and other legal proceedings for which third parties, such as our tenants,
are contractually obligated to indemnify, defend and hold us harmless. In some of these matters, the indemnitors have insurance for the potential
damages. In other matters, we are being defended by tenants who may not have sufficient insurance, assets, income or resources to satisfy their
defense and indemnification obligations to us. The unfavorable resolution of such legal proceedings could, individually or in the aggregate, materially
adversely affect the indemnitors’ ability to satisfy their respective obligations to us, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. It is management’s opinion that there are currently no such legal proceedings pending
that will, individually or in the aggregate, have such a material adverse effect. Despite management’s view of the ultimate resolution of these legal
proceedings, we may have significant legal expenses and costs associated with the defense of such matters. Further, management cannot predict
the outcome of these legal proceedings and if management’s expectation regarding such matters is not correct, such proceedings could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
Except as set forth below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors as disclosed in the section entitled “Risk Factors”
beginning on page 11 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 and filed with the SEC on March 2, 2020.
These risk factors may not describe every risk facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be
immaterial also may materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The COVID-19 pandemic is materially and adversely impacting our business. Due to this pandemic, a large number of our
properties are closed or operating in a reduced capacity, which has adversely affected our tenants and caused us to defer a significant
amount of rent. Additionally, the pandemic has severely disrupted the capital markets, and access to equity and debt capital has
generally become more expensive and more difficult to obtain. An intensification of the COVID-19 pandemic, its resurgence in regions
where we have a significant number of properties or its persistence for a prolonged period of time, a lengthy recession or an extended
period of reduced economic activity, or a secular change in consumer behavior that reduces patronage of service-based and/or
experience-based businesses, would increase the pandemic’s adverse impact on our business and could affect our financial condition,
liquidity, results of operations, prospects, access to and costs of capital, and our ability to service our debt and pay dividends.
Since being reported in December 2019, COVID-19 has spread globally, including to every state in the United States. On March 11, 2020,
the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic, and on March 13, 2020, the United States declared a national emergency with
respect to COVID-19. The impact of the pandemic continues to rapidly evolve, and many states and cities, including many of those where we own
properties, have instituted or may reinstitute quarantines, restrictions on travel, “shelter in place” rules, school closures and/or restrictions on the
types of businesses that may continue to operate or limitations on certain business operations. These actions and the resulting decline in economic
activity and consumer confidence have severely impaired the ability of many of our tenants to operate their businesses and meet their obligations to
us, including rental payment obligations. It is unclear how long these restrictions will remain in place, whether they will be lifted partially over time or
if they will be reinstituted in whole or in part in response to future surges or waves of the pandemic.
As of June 30, 2020, approximately 83.0% of our annualized base rent was attributable to tenants operating service-based businesses
(such as quick service restaurants, convenience stores, early childhood educational facilities, medical/dental facilities, casual dining restaurants and
family dining restaurants) and 13.3% of such annualized base rent was attributable to tenants operating experience-based businesses (such as
health and fitness facilities, entertainment outlets and movie theatres). These types of businesses have been severely affected by the COVID-19
pandemic, principally due to store closures or limitations on operations (which may be government-mandated or voluntary) and reduced economic
activity. As of July 31, 2020, we estimate that properties operated by tenants contributing approximately 20% of our annualized base rent as of
June 30, 2020 were closed or
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operating in a reduced capacity. Additionally, the adverse impacts of the pandemic and the responses thereto may, and likely will, vary by region,
and it is possible that our properties and tenants located in certain regions will be more adversely affected than our properties and tenants located in
other regions. Moreover, regions that experience more adverse impacts from the pandemic may change over time. We derive approximately 13.5%,
10.2%, 6.5%, 5.5% of our annualized base rent as of June 30, 2020 from Texas, Georgia, Florida and Arkansas, respectively, and these states are
currently experiencing a surge in COVID-19 cases that could adversely affect our tenants in these states and their ability to pay rent to us.
Many of our tenants have requested rent deferrals or other concessions due to the pandemic. As of July 31, 2020, we have granted
deferrals with respect to $18.1 million of past and future rent, which represents 11.3% of our annualized base rent as of June 30, 2020. These rent
deferrals were negotiated on a tenant-by-tenant basis, and, in general, allow a tenant to defer all or a portion of its rent for April, May and June, with
all of the deferred rent to be paid to us pursuant to a schedule that generally extends up to 24 months from the original due date of the deferred rent.
It is possible that the existing deterioration, or further deterioration, in our tenants’ ability to operate their businesses, or delays in the supply of
products or services to our tenants from vendors that they need to operate their businesses, caused by the COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise, will
cause our tenants to be unable or unwilling to meet their contractual obligations to us, including the payment of rent (including deferred rent) or to
request further rent deferrals or other concessions. The likelihood of this would increase if the COVID-19 pandemic intensifies or persists for a
prolonged period or if there is an economic shut down, if the recession in the United States continues for a prolonged period or if that reduced
consumer confidence and further weakens economic activity. To the extent the pandemic causes a secular change in consumer behavior that
reduces patronage of service-based and/or experience-based businesses, many of our tenants would be adversely affected and their ability to meet
their obligations to us could be further impaired. These deferrals reduce our cash flow from operations, reduce our cash available for distribution and
adversely affect our ability to make cash distributions to common stockholders. Furthermore, if tenants are unable to pay their deferred rent, we will
not receive cash in the future in accordance with our expectations. In addition to the impact of COVID-19 on our rental revenues, it has resulted, and
may continue to result, in an increase in our general and administrative expenses, as we have incurred and may continue to incur costs to negotiate
rent deferrals, lease restructures and/or lease terminations and/or enforce our contractual rights (including through litigation), as we deem
appropriate on a case-by-case basis. Similarly, to the extent the pandemic leads to decreased occupancy, it would further increase our propertylevel costs, as we would be responsible for costs that would otherwise be borne by our tenants.
The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly and adversely impacted global, national, regional and local economic activity and has contributed
to significant volatility and negative pressure in the financial markets. The market price of our common stock on the NYSE has experienced
significant volatility since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. Similarly, the availability and pricing of debt capital has become increasingly
volatile. Accordingly, we could experience difficulty accessing debt and equity capital on attractive terms, or at all, which would adversely affect our
ability to grow our business, conduct our operations or address maturing liabilities. Additionally, the general decline in business activity and demand
for real estate transactions has adversely affected our ability and desire to invest in additional properties and to opportunistically sell certain of our
properties; it is unclear how long this unfavorable transaction environment will persist. Similarly, the deterioration in access to capital is likely
adversely affecting our tenants’ abilities to finance their businesses and reducing their liquidity, which reduces their ability to meet their obligations to
us.
The financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic could negatively impact our future compliance with some of the financial covenants relating
to our credit facility and term loans, some of which depend, in part, on the net operating income generated by certain of our properties or our
EBITDA. Non-compliance would preclude us from borrowing further under our credit facility and, under certain circumstances, could result in an
event of default and an acceleration of such indebtedness and, possibly, other indebtedness through cross-default provisions. Additionally, to the
extent the COVID-19 pandemic intensifies or persists for a prolonged period of time, it is possible that we will be required to record significant
impairment charges to the value of our real estate assets.
Our operations could be adversely affected if the health of our senior executives or a significant number of our other employees is adversely
affected by the pandemic. Our senior executives have extensive experience and strong reputations in the real estate industry and have been
instrumental in setting our strategic direction, operating our business and arranging necessary financing. In particular, the extent and nature of the
relationships that these individuals have developed with financial institutions and existing and prospective tenants is critically important to the
success of our business. The loss of services of one or more members of our senior management team could adversely affect our business,
diminish our investment opportunities and weaken our relationships with lenders,
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business partners, existing and prospective tenants and industry personnel, which could materially and adversely affect us.
Due to the pandemic, many of our business processes are being conducted remotely, which places increased reliance on our information
technology systems. It is possible that remote work arrangements will not be as efficient as physical operations, and this could adversely affect our
business processes, including our investment, leasing, asset management, finance and reporting processes. Remote operations could adversely
affect our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial reporting; any weaknesses in these areas could harm our
operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations (which could affect the listing of our common stock on the NYSE). Additionally,
any such weaknesses could also adversely affect our ability to prevent or detect fraud, harm our reputation and cause investors to lose confidence
in our reported financial information.
The ultimate extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic adversely impacts us (and our tenants) will depend on future developments, which
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the scope, severity and duration of the pandemic, the actions taken to
contain the pandemic or mitigate its impact, and the direct and indirect economic effects of the pandemic and containment and mitigation measures,
among others. Moreover, many risk factors set forth in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 should be
interpreted as heightened risks as a result of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Under certain circumstances, the subsidiaries included in our Master Trust Funding Program would be prohibited from
distributing excess cash flow to us, and the assets of such subsidiaries could be foreclosed upon.
Through our Master Trust Funding Program, certain of our Operating Partnership’s indirect wholly owned subsidiaries have issued net-lease
mortgage notes payable with an aggregate outstanding principal balance of $175.2 million as of June 30, 2020. As of June 30, 2020, we had
pledged 255 properties, with a net investment amount of $364.8 million, as collateral under this program. As the equity owner of the subsidiaries
included in our Master Trust Funding Program, we are only entitled to the excess cash flows from such subsidiaries after debt service and all other
required payments are made on the notes. If, at any time, the monthly debt service coverage ratio (as defined) generated by the collateral pool is
less than or equal to 1.25x, excess cash flow (as defined) from the subsidiaries included in our Master Trust Funding Program will be deposited into
a reserve account to be used for payments on the net-lease mortgage notes in the event there is a shortfall in cash at such subsidiaries to make
required payments on the notes. Additionally, if at any time the three-month average debt service coverage ratio generated by the collateral pool is
less than or equal to 1.15x, excess cash flow from the subsidiaries included in our Master Trust Funding Program will be applied to an early
amortization of the notes. For the three months ended June 30, 2020, the debt service coverage ratio was approximately 3.86 to 1. However, our
debt service coverage ratio in future periods may be 1.25x or lower, with the result that excess cash flow would be deposited into a reserve account
and would not be distributed to us. This would adversely affect us, including by reducing our ability to pay cash distributions on our common stock
and possibly prevent us from maintaining our qualification for taxation as a REIT. In addition, if the subsidiaries included in our Master Trust Funding
Program are unable to repay the notes, including in connection with any acceleration of maturity, the pledged assets could be foreclosed upon and
our equity in such assets eliminated.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
None.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

Description

10.1

Employment Agreement, dated July 7, 2020 and effective as of August 10, 2020, between the Company and Mark E. Patten
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 7, 2020)

10.2

Form of Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
on July 7, 2020)

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2**

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance does not appear in the Interactive Data File because
its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

_____________________________________

* Filed herewith.
** Furnished herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
ESSENTIAL PROPERTIES
REALTY TRUST, INC.
Date: August 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Peter M. Mavoides
Peter M. Mavoides
Director, President and
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Anthony K. Dobkin
Anthony K. Dobkin
Interim Chief Financial
Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Peter M. Mavoides, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Essential Properties Realty Trust, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

Date:

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

August 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Peter M. Mavoides
Peter M. Mavoides
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Anthony K. Dobkin, certify that:
(1)

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Essential Properties Realty Trust, Inc.;

(2)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

(3)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4)

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(5)

Date:

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

August 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Anthony K. Dobkin
Anthony K. Dobkin
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the periodic report of Essential Properties Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Peter M. Mavoides, Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for the purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that to the best of my
knowledge:

Date:

(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated.

August 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Peter M. Mavoides
Peter M. Mavoides
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the periodic report of Essential Properties Realty Trust, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2020, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Anthony K. Dobkin, Interim Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, hereby certify as of the date hereof, solely for the purposes of Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, that to the
best of my knowledge:

Date:

(1)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
and

(2)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations
of the Company at the dates and for the periods indicated.

August 5, 2020

By:

/s/ Anthony K. Dobkin
Anthony K. Dobkin
Interim Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350 and is not being filed as part of the Report or as a separate disclosure document.

